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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
  
 
 

To the Shareholders of  

Banka Credins Kosovë Sh.a. 

 
 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Banka Credins Kosovë Sh.a. (the “Bank”), which comprise the statement of financial 

position as at 31 December 2022, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement 

of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Bank 

as at 31 December 2022, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

statements in Kosovo, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the 

IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of matter 

We draw attention to Note 2.2.3 to the financial statements which describes that the Bank’s financial statements have been 

prepared assuming that the Bank will continue as a going concern. The ability of the Bank to continue as a going concern is 

dependent on continued financial support from its Shareholder and the availability of obtaining continuous sources of funding. 

The Shareholder has committed to continue providing financial support to the Bank for a period of at least 12 months from the 

date of support letter. 

The financial statements do not include any adjustment that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our audit opinion 

is not modified in respect of this matter. 

   

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation the financial statements in accordance with the IFRSs, and 

for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 

either intends to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process. 

 
 
  



 

   

Grant Thornton LLC is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 
obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

 
grantthornton-ks.com 

 

2 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 

statements. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 

the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
 
We communicate with those charged with governance of Banka Credins Kosovë Sh.a. regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Grant Thornton LLC  Suzana Stavrik 

Prishtina,  Statutory Auditor 

28 April 2023   
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Statement of Financial Position 

for the year ended 31 December 2022 

 
 Notes 31 December 2022  31 December 2021 
  ‘000 EUR  ‘000 EUR 

Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents  11 9,350.39  3,703.43  
Deposits in banks 11 559.25  1,133.11  
Restricted balances with Central Bank 12 961.83  879.27  
Due from banks and other financial institutions 13 1,495.22  0.00 
Financial assets at FVOCI 14 6,127.75  4,921.54  
Loans and advances to customers 15 35,070.55  10,766.61  
Property and equipment 16 3,081.55  2,697.09 
Intangible assets 17 617.21  499.97  
Right-of-use assets 18 2,156.50  1,760.26  
Other assets 19 575.75  159.74 
     

Total Assets  59,996.01  26,521.02 

     
Liabilities     
Due to banks and other financial institutions 20 0.00  2,001.94  
Due to customers 21 48,884.99  13,548.18  
Deferred tax liabilities 22 10.80  9.00  
Provisions 23 15.59  9.28  
Lease liabilities 24 2,251.24  1,805.93  
Other liabilities 25 236.98  171.68  
     

Total Liabilities  51,399.60  17,546.01 

     
Equity     
Shareholders Capital 26 12,056.63  10,651.63  
Share Premium   363.07  222.57  
Revaluation reserve of investment securities 14,22  97.17   81.02  
Accumulated losses    (1,980.21)   (311.11) 
Net (loss) for the period    (1,940.26)   (1,669.10) 
     

Total equity   8,596.41  8,975.01 

     
Total Equity and Liabilities   59,996.01      26,521.02 
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Statement of changes in equity  

for the year ended 31 December 2022  
 

 
 
 

  Share capital 
Share 

premium 
General 
reserve 

Revaluation 
reserves 

Accumulated losses Total 

  ‘000 EUR ‘000 EUR ‘000 EUR ‘000 EUR ‘000 EUR ‘000 EUR 

        

Balance as at 31 December 2020 / 01 January 2021 8,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (311.11) 7,688.89 

Profit/Loss of the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,669.10) (1,669.10) 

Other comprehensive income for the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 81.02 0.00 81.02 

Other comprehensive income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Total comprehensive income 0.00 0.00  81.02 (1,669.1) (1,588.08) 

Transactions with owners 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Issue of share capital  2,651,63 222.57  0.00 0.00 2,874.20 

 Total transactions with owners  2,651.63 222.57 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,874.20 

 Balance as at 31 December 2021  10,651.63 222.57  81.02 (1,980.21) 8,975.01 

Profit/Loss of the year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 (1,940.26) (1,940.26) 

Other comprehensive income for the year  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 Other comprehensive income  0.00 0.00 0.00 16.15 0.00 16.15 

Total comprehensive income 0.00 0.00 0.00 16.15 (1,940.26) (1,924.11) 

Transactions with owners 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Issue of share capital  1,405.00 140.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,545.50 

 Total transactions with owners  1,405.00 140.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,545.50 

Balance as at 31 December 2022 12,056.63 363.07 0.00 97.17 (3,920.47) 8,596.41 
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Statement of cash flows 

for the year ended 31 December 2022 
 

 
Notes 

Year ended  
31 December 2022 

Year ended  
31 December 2021 

  ‘000 EUR ‘000 EUR 
Operating activities       
Loss before income tax       (1,940.26)     (1,669.10) 

Adjustments for non-cash items:     

Charges for ECL on loans and advances to 
customer 

7        648.02         241.45  

Charges for ECL on loans and advances to banks 7 8.46 0.41 

Changes for ECL on off balance sheet item  7            6.31             9.28  

Depreciation and amortization expense 16,17,18        753.32         497.03  
Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 22            1.8             9.00  
Net interest income / (expense) 3         (923.94)         (37.61) 
Net fee and commission income  4           (76.39)           (8.99) 

Net cash flows (used in) operating activities 
before changes in operating assets and 
liabilities  

(1,522.68) (958.48) 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities    
Change in loans and advances to customers 15   (24,951.97)   (11,002.20) 
Change in restricted balances with the Central 
Bank  

12       (81.83)       (656.05) 

Change in due from banks 13 (1,500.09) - 
Change in other assets 19          (416.01)           71.55  
Change in due to banks 20      (2,000.00)       2,000.00  
Change in due to customers 21    35,336.81     13,307.79  
Change in other liabilities 25     65.30     (2,089.59) 
Interest received         1,300.72         227.00  
Interest paid          (113.27)         (42.73) 
Fee and commission received           213.30           45.48  
Fee and commission paid          (136.90)         (36.49) 
Income tax paid  0.00 0.00 

Net cash from operating activities         6,193.36        866.28 

Investing activities     
Purchase of investment securities 14     (1,190.00)     (4,810.00) 
Purchase of property and equipment 16       (842.35)       (937.05) 
Purchase of intangible assets 17       (160.34)       (508.11) 

Net cash flows (used in) investing activities   (2,192.68) (6,255.16) 

Financing activities     
Issue of share capital 26 1,405.00  2,651.63  
Payment of lease liabilities 24  (332.57)  (237.70) 

Net cash flow from financing activities         1,072.43      2,413.93 

      
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  

      5,073.11     (2,974.95) 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January    4,836.54 7,811.49 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 11 9,909.65 4,836.54 
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1 General information 

Banka Credins Kosove sh.a. (hereinafter “the Bank”) is a Kosovo financial institution which was incorporated on 17 March 
2020 under the Kosovo Commercial Law and was licensed by the Central Bank of Kosovo on 28 September 2020 to 
operate as a bank in all fields of banking activity in Kosovo in accordance with the law No 04/L-093, “On banks, micro 
financing institutions and non-banking financial institutions”, dated July 2012. The Bank is also subject to law No. 03/L-209, 
dated December 2010, “On the Central Bank of the Republic of Kosovo” hereinafter referred to as “Central Bank”).  

The main shareholder of Banka Credins Kosovë Sh.a is Credins Bank Albania, which is a company established in Albania 
and owns 66.35% of the shares (2021: 75.11% of the shares). Credins Bank Albania sh.a is a financial institution which 
was established on 31 January 2003 under the Albanian commercial law and was licensed by the Central Bank of Albania 
on 31 March 2003 to operate as a bank in all areas of banking activity in Albania in accordance with law no. 9662/2006, 
"On the banks of the Republic of Albania", (dated January 2011). Credins Bank Albania operates through 57 branches and 
agencies in Albania. It has 1052 employees as of December 31, 2022. Credins Bank Albania occupies the first place in the 
market for the loan portfolio and the second for the deposit portfolio. The capital of Credins Bank Albania is about 105 
million shares with a nominal value of 109.50 usd / share. The shareholder structure of Credins Bank Albania consists of 
shareholders, individuals and companies. The main shareholders of Credins bank Albania are Renis Tërshana who owns 
18.12% of the shares and B.F.S.E Holding BV who owns 15.10% of the shares. The shareholder A.F.C owns 15.36% of 
the share capital of Banka Credins Kosovë Sh.a while the other shareholders own less than 10% of the capital. During 
2022 Banka Credins Kosovë Sh.a has increased sufficiently its capital for the performance and development of its activity 
in the amount of 1.4 million euros. In order to achieve the strategic goals, Banka Credins Kosovë Sha. annual documents 
including strategy and policies, have been drafted and adapted to the situation with Covid-19 for each specific risk in order 
to maintain key risk indicators, to control and monitor on the basis of regular, always based on the bank's available capital. 
The bank's performance and financial stability is stable, based on key risk indicators.     
 

Registered address and principal place of business: The address of the head office of the bank and principal place of 
business is: “UÇK,” Street, No. 240, Prishtinë, Kosovo. 

Main activity: The Bank operated as a bank with full rights, in compliance with the Law No. 04/L-093 On Banks micro 
financing institutions and non-banking financial institutions and offers services for all client categories in the Republic of 
Kosovo through its branch network comprised of six branches located in Prishtina, Ferizaj, Prizren, Fushekosove, Gjakova 
and Peja. The investment for the branch Pristina 2 is finalized and started operating from February 2023. 
 
The Board of Directors of the Bank as at 31 December 2022 is composed of:  
 

• Lars Jonas Hasselrot – Chairman 

• Clive Moody – Member  

• Raimonda Duka – Member 

• Dorina Kripa – Member   

• Ardi Shita - Member 

As at 31 December 2022 the Bank had 93 employees (2021: 62 employees).  

2 Accounting policies  

2.1 Basis of preparation  

The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for investments measured at FVOCI.  

The Financial Statements are presented in EUR, which is the Bank’s functional currency and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand up to two decimals (EUR ’000), except when otherwise indicated. 

2.1.1 Statement of compliance 

The Financial Statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) and with the tax law applicable in the Republic of 
Kosovo as well as the regulatory requirements of Central Bank of Kosovo. 

2.1.2 Presentation of Financial Statements 

The Bank presents its statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity. 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position only 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
or to realize the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expense is not offset unless required or permitted 
by any accounting standard or interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Bank.  

2.2 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Bank’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, as well 
as the disclosure of contingent liabilities (if any). Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. In the 
process of applying the Bank’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements and assumptions  
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2 Accounting policies (continued) 

2.2 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments may change due to circumstances beyond the Bank’s 
control and are reflected in the assumptions if and when they occur.  

2.2.1 Impairment losses on financial assets  

The bank considers exposure as non-performing/impaired when one or more of following events that have a detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows have occurred: 
 
 
► Days past due of an account greater than 90 days 
► Loan is characterized by bad rating (loans that have rating equal to 7 or economic rating equal to 10) 
  
The mentioned default (impairment) definition is applied on the account (loan) level. 
 
Loans that are not individually tested for impairment are assessed collectively.  
 
The collective impairment is calculated according to stage 2 and stage 1. 
 
Stage 2: For collectively assessed accounts in Stage 2 impairment allowance is equal to lifetime ECL. Lifetime ECL is 
defined as all possible default loss events over the expected life of a financial instrument (i.e., risk of a default occurring on 
the financial instrument during its expected life). 
 
Stage 1: For collectively assessed accounts in Stage 1, 12 month Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is calculated. 12-month 
ECLs is a loss that is expected to materialize in the following 12 months – therefore 12 months’ probability is multiplied by 
current EAD and corresponding LGD. In the case, remaining maturity is shorter than 12 months, instead of 12 months PD, 
the remaining lifetime PD is considered. 
 
The measurement of impairment losses under IFRS across all categories of financial assets in scope requires judgement, 
in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment 
losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, 
changes in which can result in different levels of allowances. 
 
The Bank’s ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice 
of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are considered accounting judgements 
and estimates include: 

 
The Bank’s internal credit grading model, which assigns PDs to the individual grades 

• The Bank’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for financial 
assets should be measured on a LTECL basis and the qualitative assessment Segmentation of financial assets when 
their ECL is assessed on a collective basis 

• The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis.  

• Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive the economic inputs 
into the ECL models 

It has been the Bank’s policy to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when 
necessary. 

2.2.2 Significant events during the reporting period 

During 2022 the bank has shown a stability and a performance which has been at budgeted levels. Looking at the 
macroeconomic situation in the country, the bank forecasts that its performance in 2023 will have even more significant 
improvements and development than what has been identified in 2022.   
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2.       Accounting policies (continued) 

2.2     Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

2.2.2 Significant events during the reporting period (continued) 

The Bank's activity has continued uninterrupted since mid-October 2020, and has had a relatively stable performance in 
collecting receivables from customers. During 2022 the Bank has achieved its quantitative and qualitative objectives 
although the pandemic situation and inflation has had a negative impact in the campaigns and in its market expansion at 
the projected levels. By the end of 2023, the Bank expects an increase in its performing loan portfolio despite the economic 
downturn. Following the emergence of the inflation emergency, the Bank is analysing macroeconomic changes and will 
reflect these changes in the Stress Tests used to describe the impact of inflation on the calculation of Expected Credit 
Losses. Based on these calculations the bank has budgeted and implemented the business plan for 2023-2025 with all the 
expected elements to anticipate any kind of ongoing situation. 

The Bank considers in assessing the adequacy of its domestic capital the stress scenario in calculating the capital 
requirement for market risk in relation to its investment portfolio, most of which is measured at fair value with other 
comprehensive income and has a direct impact on capital. 

The Bank considers liquidity risk in recovery plans, in the process of assessing domestic capital adequacy, by setting well-
defined limits for its risk requirement. The Bank estimates that its capital resources are available and there are alternative 
elements for increasing these resources over time. The Bank will regularly conduct stress test analysis to test the potential 
impact of macroeconomic indicators on its financial position, performance and regulatory compliance. These stress tests 
will mainly focus on the impact that some macro and microeconomic scenarios may have on the loan portfolio, being the 
main source of income in the Bank's financial position, including market risk. This analysis will use the official models of 
forecasting the internal risk assessment of the Central Bank and the Bank. In the baseline scenario based on the bank's 
forecasts according to the strategy approved by the Bank Board, In the baseline scenario based on the bank forecasts 
according to the strategy approved by the Bank Board, the Bank forecasts a CAR rate for 2022 (19.91%) and 2023 
(18.12%). The Bank has foreseen a capital increase in order to maintain the regulatory requirements for the minimum 
capital of the Central Bank of Kosovo. According to the budget, this increase will take place in the first quarter of 2023 and 
the second and third quarter of 2023. Potential shareholders are semi-qualified by the Central Bank of Kosovo and will 
follow the rest of the process during the first quarter of 2023. During the first two months of 2023 the Bank has managed 
to achieve the budgeted results. For the year ending 2023, the Bank expects to be within the budgeted figures. 

The Bank's management has made an assessment of the Bank's ability to continue on a going concern basis taking into 
account all of the above factors and is confident that the Bank has sufficient resources to continue operating for the 
foreseeable future. Management is aware of material uncertainties like loss for the year and accumulate losses which will 
be faced by foreseen of Capital increase through new capital issuance. Furthermore, Management is unaware of any 
material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern Therefore, the 
Financial Statements continue to be prepared on going concern basis. For additional explanatory notes on capital 
management refer to note 29.6. 

2.2.3. Going concern assumption 

The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, as explained in Note 2.2.2 above, which 
assumes that the Bank will continue with its operations for the foreseeable future. 

The ability of the Bank to continue as a going concern is dependent on continued financial support from its Shareholder 
and the availability of continuous sources of funding.   

The Bank’s shareholder has no intention to liquidate or to terminate the business operations of the Bank. In addition, the 
Shareholder has declared that it is able to provide support and has committed to continue providing financial and other 
support to the Bank for a period of at least 12 months from the support letter dated 27 April 2023. 

2.2.4 Fair value of financial instruments   

The fair value of financial instruments is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market 
conditions (i.e., an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation 
technique. When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position 
cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of 
valuation models. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not 
feasible, estimation is required in establishing fair values. Judgements and estimates include considerations of liquidity and 
model inputs related to items such as credit risk (both own and counterparty), funding value adjustments, correlation and 
volatility. 
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2.       Accounting policies (continued) 

2.2     Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 

2.2.5 Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method 

The Bank’s EIR method, as explained in Note 2.4.7.1, recognizes interest income using a rate of return that represents the 
best estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected behavioural life of loans and deposits and recognizes the effect 
of potentially different interest rates charged at various stages and other characteristics of the product life cycle (including 
prepayments and penalty interest and charges). This estimation, by nature, requires an element of judgement regarding 
the expected behaviour and life-cycle of the instruments. 

2.2.6 Deferred tax asset  

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the tax losses can be utilized. Although in Kosovo tax losses can be utilized within 4 years of the 
date it occurred, judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based on 
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits, together with future tax-planning strategies. 

2.2.7 Determination of the lease term for lease contracts with renewal and termination options (Bank as a lessee) 

The Bank determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered by an 
option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to terminate the 
lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.  

The Bank has long term lease contracts. The Bank has invested in leasehold improvements of the leased assets in order 
to make the best use of its premises.  

2.2.8 Estimating the incremental borrowing rate 

The Bank cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses the average annual lending rate 
(‘IBR’) in the banking system based on the Statistical Bulletin of the Central Bank of Kosovo to measure lease liabilities. 
The IBR is the rate of interest that the Bank would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, 
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The 
IBR therefore reflects what the Bank ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available 
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms 
and conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).The Bank estimates 
the IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-
specific adjustments (such as to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease). On first implementation of IFRS 16 the IBR 
applied to lease liabilities recognised under IFRS 16 was 6.00%. The same rate is used for 2022 due to minimal changes 
in the market which have no significant impact.  
 
2.2.9 Impairment of financial instruments 

The treatment of financial instruments (government bonds and exposures due to banks) is different from the general 
approach described for credit instruments only in terms of setting parameters. While the LGD is simply set at 45% 
(according to the CRR regulation), the DP is extracted from the specific S&P rating of the unit. More specifically, the 
empirical default annual average rate is taken from the S&P Annual Sovereign Default and Rating Transition Study. 
The significant increase in credit risk for financial instruments is determined in the same way as for credit instruments. 
Cumulative PDs are calculated up to the 12th month. Whereas, for all exposures to the Central Bank of Kosovo CBK, as 
they will be exposures to the central government of the state in which the Bank is operating, making reference to the 
weighting factor 0% for the calculation of risk assets for these exposures according to the Regulation on Capital Adequacy 
and finally, because no concrete PD is given for the exposures of the CBK or Kosovo, the Bank will consider the PD equal 
to 0%.  
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2.     Accounting policies (continued) 

2.3 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures  

2.3.1 New standards and interpretations effective for 2022 financial statements  

The new and amended standards that have been issued, and effective from 1 January 2022, applicable until the date 
of issue of the bank's financial statements are described below: 

- Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before intended use – Amendments to IAS 16. The amendment to IAS 
16 Property, Plant and Equipment (PP&E) prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of PP&E any 
proceeds received from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. It also 
clarifies that an entity is ‘testing whether the asset is functioning properly’ when it assesses the technical and 
physical performance of the asset. The financial performance of the asset is not relevant to this assessment. 
Entities must disclose separately the amounts of proceeds and costs relating to items produced that are not an 
output of the entity’s ordinary activities. 

- Reference to the Conceptual Framework – Amendments to IFRS 3. Minor amendments were made to IFRS 3 
Business Combinations to update the references to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting and to add 
an exception for the recognition of liabilities and contingent liabilities within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and Interpretation 21 Levies. The amendments also confirm that 
contingent assets should not be recognised at the acquisition date. 

- Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract Amendments to IAS 37. The amendment to IAS 37 clarifies that 
the direct costs of fulfilling a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling the contract and an allocation 
of other costs directly related to fulfilling contracts. Before recognising a separate provision for an onerous 
contract, the entity recognises any impairment loss that has occurred on assets used in fulfilling the contract. 

- Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020. 

- Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 – Amendments to IFRS 16. In March 2021, the Board 
amended the conditions of the practical expedient in IFRS 16 that provides relief to lessees from applying the 
IFRS 16 guidance on lease modifications to rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19 
pandemic. Following the amendment, the practical expedient now applies to rent concessions for which any 
reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the other 
conditions for applying the practical expedient are met. The Bank did not negotiate any Covid related rent 
concessions with its lessors and has no impact from this amendment.  

The application of these standards and interpretations did not have a material impact on the Bank's financial 
statements. 

2.3.2. Standards effective since January 1, 2023 and further 

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the following new standards and amendments to existing 
standards were in issue, but not yet effective: 
 

- Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1), effective from 1 January 2023.  
- IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, effective from 1 January 2023.  
- Definition of Accounting Estimate (Amendments to IAS 8), effective from 1 January 2023.  
- Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2), effective from 1 January 

2023.  
- Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to IAS 12), effective 

from 1 January 2023. 
- Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 

and IAS 28).  

The Bank has elected not to adopt these standards, revisions and interpretations in advance of their effective dates. The 
Bank anticipates that the adoption of these standards, revisions and interpretations will have no material impact on the 
financial statements of the Bank in the period of initial application and therefore the explanatory notes have not been 
prepared. 
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2.     Accounting policies (continued) 

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies 

2.4.1 Foreign currency transactions 

In preparing the financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the Bank's functional currency are recognized 
at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of the operation at the exchange 
rates at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date 
are retranslated into the functional currency at the exchange rates at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on 
monetary items is the difference between amortized cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted 
for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortized cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange 
rates at the end of the period. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

The applicable rate of exchange (EUR to foreign currency unity) for principal currencies as at 31 December 2022 (31 
December 2021) were as follows:  

 31-December 22 31-December 21 

USD 1.0666 1.1326 

GBP 0.88693 0.84028 

CHF 0.9847 1.0331 

CAD 1.444 1.4393 

ALL 114.23 120.76 
 
2.4.2 Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement 

2.4.2.1 Date of recognition 

Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans and advances to customers and balances due to customers, are 
initially recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date on which the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. Loans and advances to customers are recognized when funds are transferred to the customers’ accounts. The 
Bank recognizes balances due to customers when funds are transferred to the Bank. 

2.4.2.2 Initial measurement of financial instruments 

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the business model 
for managing the instruments, as described in Notes 2.4.4.1.1 and 2.4.4.1.2. Financial instruments are initially measured 
at their fair value (as defined in Note 2.4.3), except in the case of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at FVPL, 
transaction costs are added to, or subtracted from, this amount. Trade receivables are measured at the transaction price. 
When the fair value of financial instruments at initial recognition differs from the transaction price, the Bank accounts for 
the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below: 

Day 1 profit or loss 

When the transaction price of the instrument differs from the fair value at origination and the fair value is based on a 
valuation technique using only inputs observable in market transactions, the Bank recognizes the difference between the 
transaction price and fair value in net trading income. In those cases where fair value is based on models for which some 
of the inputs are not observable, the difference between the transaction price and the fair value is deferred and is only 
recognized in profit or loss when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is de-recognized. 

2.4.2.3 Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities 

The Bank classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the assets and the asset’s 
contractual terms, measured at either: 
 
• Amortised cost, as explained in Note 2.4.4.1 
• FVOCI, as explained in Notes 2.4.4.4 
• FVPL, as set out Note 2.4.4.6. 
 
The Bank classifies and measures its derivative and trading portfolio at FVPL, as explained in Notes 2.4.4.2 and 2.4.4.3. 
The Bank may designate financial instruments at FVPL, if so doing eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or 
recognition inconsistencies, as explained in Note 2.4.4.6. 
 
Financial liabilities, other than loan commitments and financial guarantees, are measured at amortized cost or at FVPL 
when they are held for trading and derivative instruments or the fair value designation is applied, as explained in Note 
2.4.4.6.  
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2.       Accounting policies (continued) 

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies(continued) 

2.4.2 Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued) 

2.4.2.4 De-recognition of financial assets 

2.4.2.4.1 De-recognition due to substantial modification of terms and conditions 

The Bank derecognizes a financial asset, such as a loan to a customer, when the terms and conditions have been 

renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new loan, with the difference recognized as a de-recognition 
gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. The newly recognized loans are classified 

as Stage 1 for ECL measurement purposes, unless the new loan is deemed to be POCI. 

When assessing whether or not to de-recognize a loan to a customer, amongst others, the Bank considers the following 

factors: 

• Change in currency of the loan 

• Introduction of an equity feature 
• Change in counterparty 

• If the modification is such that the instrument would no longer meet the SPPI criterion 

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different, as set out below, the modification does not 
result in de-recognition. Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the original EIR, the Bank records a modification 
gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. For financial liabilities, the Bank considers 
a modification substantial based on qualitative factors and if it results in a difference between the adjusted discounted 
present value and the original carrying amount of the financial liability of, or greater than, ten percent. For financial assets, 
this assessment is based on qualitative factors. 

2.4.2.4.2 De-recognition other than for substantial modification 

2.4.2.4.2.1 Financial assets 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is de-
recognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset have expired. The Bank also de-recognizes the 
financial asset if it has both transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for de-recognition. The Bank has 
transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either: 

• The Bank has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset 

or 

• It retains the rights to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without 
material delay to a third party under a ‘pass–through’ arrangement. 

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Bank retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of 
a financial asset (the 'original asset'), but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to one or more entities 
(the 'eventual recipients'), when all of the following three conditions are met: 
• The Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected equivalent amounts from the 
original asset, excluding short-term advances with the right to full recovery of the amount lent plus accrued interest at 
market rates 
• The Bank cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients 
• The Bank has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material delay. 
In addition, the Bank is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash or cash equivalents, including 
interest earned, during the period between the collection date and the date of required remittance to the eventual recipients. 
A transfer only qualifies for de-recognition if either: 
• The Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset 
Or 
• The Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset. 
 
The Bank considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to sell the asset in its 
entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without imposing additional restrictions 
on the transfer.  
 
When the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has retained control of the 
asset, the asset continues to be recognized only to the extent of the Bank’s continuing involvement, in which case, the 
Bank also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis 
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Bank has retained.  
 
Continued involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original 
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration the Bank could be required to pay. 
 
If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both) on the transferred asset, the continuing 
involvement is measured at the value the Bank would be required to pay upon repurchase. In the case of a written put 
option on an asset that is measured at fair value, the extent of the entity's continuing involvement is limited to the lower of 
the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.  
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2.       Accounting policies (continued) 

2.4     Summary of significant accounting policies(continued) 

2.4.2  Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued) 

2.4.2.4 De-recognition of financial assets (continued) 

2.4.2.4.2 De-recognition other than for substantial modification (continued) 

2.4.2.4.2.2 Financial liabilities 

A financial liability is de-recognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference between the carrying value of the original financial liability and 
the consideration paid is recognized in profit or loss. 

2.4.3 Determination of fair value 

In order to show how fair values have been derived, financial instruments are classified based on a hierarchy of valuation 
techniques, as summarized below. 

- Level 1 financial instruments − Those where the inputs used in the valuation are unadjusted quoted prices from active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Bank has access to at the measurement date. The Bank considers 
markets as active only if there are sufficient trading activities with regards to the volume and liquidity of the identical 
assets or liabilities and when there are binding and exercisable price quotes available on the balance sheet date.  

- Level 2 financial instruments − Those where the inputs that are used for valuation and are significant, are derived from 
directly or indirectly observable market data available over the entire period of the instrument’s life. Such inputs include 
quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical instruments in inactive 
markets and observable inputs other than quoted prices such as interest rates and yield curves, implied volatilities, 
and credit spreads. In addition, adjustments may be required for the condition or location of the asset or the extent to 
which it relates to items that are comparable to the valued instrument. However, if such adjustments are based on 
unobservable inputs which are significant to the entire measurement, the Bank will classify the instruments as Level 
3. 

- Level 3 financial instruments − Those that include one or more unobservable input that is significant to the 
measurement as whole. 

The Bank periodically reviews its valuation techniques including the adopted methodologies and model calibrations. 
However, the base models may not fully capture all factors relevant to the valuation of the Bank’s financial instruments 
such as credit risk (CVA), own credit (DVA) and/or funding costs (FVA). Therefore, the Bank applies various techniques to 
estimate the credit risk associated with its financial instruments measured at fair value, which include a portfolio-based 
approach that estimates the expected net exposure per counterparty over the full lifetime of the individual assets, in order 
to reflect the credit risk of the individual counterparties for non-collateralized financial instruments. The Bank estimates the 
value of its own credit from market observable data, such as secondary prices for its traded debt and the credit spread on 
credit default swaps and traded debts on itself. The Bank evaluates the levelling at each reporting period on an instrument-
by-instrument basis and reclassifies instruments, when necessary, based on the facts at the end of the reporting period. 

2.4.4 Financial assets and liabilities 

2.4.4.1 Due from banks, Loans and advances to customers, financial investments at amortized cost 

The Bank measures Due from banks, Loans and advances to customers and other financial investments at amortized cost 
if both of the following conditions are met: 
• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual 
cash flows 
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.  

The details of these conditions are outlined below. 

2.4.4.1.1 Business model assessment 

The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to achieve 
its business objective. 
• The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) 
and, in particular, the way those risks are managed  
• How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the fair value of 
the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected). 
 
The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Bank’s assessment. 
The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress case’ 
scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realized in a way that is different from the Bank's original 
expectations, the Bank does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business model, 
but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward. 
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2.       Accounting policies (continued) 

2.4     Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.4.4  Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

2.4.4.1.2. The SPPI test 

As a second step of its classification process the Bank assesses the contractual terms of the financial asset to identify 
whether they meet the SPPI test. ‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at 
initial recognition and may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or 
amortization of the premium/discount). 
The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the time value of 
money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Bank applies judgement and considers relevant factors such as 
the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set. 
In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash 
flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial asset is required to be measured at FVPL. 

2.4.4.2 Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss 

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid instrument that also includes a non-derivative host contract with the 
effect that some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone derivative. An 
embedded derivative cause some or all of the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the contract to be modified 
according to a specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or 
rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided that, in the case of a non-financial variable, it is not specific 
to a party to the contract. A derivative that is attached to a financial instrument, but is contractually transferable 
independently of that instrument, or has a different counterparty from that instrument, is not an embedded derivative, but a 
separate financial instrument. Financial assets are classified based on the business model and SPPI assessments as 
outlined in Note 2.4.4.1.1 and 2.4.4.1.2. 

2.4.4.3  Financial instruments at FVPL 

The Bank classifies financial assets or financial liabilities at FVPL when they have been purchased or issued primarily for 
short-term profit-making through trading activities or form part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed 
together, for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit taking. FVPL assets and liabilities are recorded 
and measured in the statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in net trading income. 
Interest and dividend income or expense is recorded in net trading income according to the terms of the contract, or when 
the right to payment has been established. Included in this classification are debt securities that have been acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Bank has 
not recognized financial instruments at FVPL. 

2.4.4.4 Debt instruments at FVOCI 

The Bank classifies debt instruments at FVOCI when both of the following conditions are met: 

• The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test 

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to changes in fair value 
recognized in OCI. Interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss in the same 
manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost as explained in Note 2.4.2. The ECL calculation for Debt 
instruments at FVOCI is explained in Note 2.4.6.3 Where the Bank holds more than one investment in the same security, 
they are deemed to be disposed of on a first–in first–out basis. On de-recognition, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognized in OCI are reclassified from OCI to profit or loss.  
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2.       Accounting policies (continued) 

2.4     Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.4.4  Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

2.4.4.5 Debt issued and other borrowed funds 

After initial measurement, debt issued and other borrowed funds are subsequently measured at amortized cost. Amortized 
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on issued funds, and costs that are an integral part of 
the EIR. A compound financial instrument which contains both a liability and an equity component is separated at the issue 
date. 
When establishing the accounting treatment for non-derivative instruments, the Bank first establishes whether the 
instrument is a compound instrument and classifies such instrument’s components separately as financial liabilities, 
financial assets, or equity instruments in accordance with IAS 32. Classification of the liability and equity components of a 
convertible instrument is not revised as a result of a change in the likelihood that a conversion option will be exercised, 
even when exercising the option may appear to have become economically advantageous to some holders. When 
allocating the initial carrying amount of a compound financial instrument to the equity and liability components, the equity 
component is assigned as the residual amount after deducting from the entire fair value of the instrument, the amount 
separately determined for the liability component. Once the Bank has determined the split between equity and liability, it 
further evaluates whether the liability component has embedded derivatives that must be separately accounted for (as 
outlined in Note 2.4.4.2). 

2.4.4.6 Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss  

Financial assets and financial liabilities in this category are those that are not held for trading and have been either 

designated by management upon initial recognition or are mandatorily required to be measured at fair value under IFRS 9. 

Management only designates an instrument at FVPL upon initial recognition when one of the following criteria are met.  

Such designation is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis: 

• The designation eliminates, or significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring 

the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on them on a different basis, 
or 

• The liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities, which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value 
basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy,  

or 
• The liabilities contain one or more embedded derivatives, unless they do not significantly modify the cash flows that would 

otherwise be required by the contract, or it is clear with little or no analysis when a similar instrument is first considered that 

separation of the embedded derivative(s) is prohibited. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. Changes 
in fair value are recorded in profit and loss with the exception of movements in fair value of liabilities designated at FVPL 
due to changes in the Bank’s own credit risk. Such changes in fair value are recorded in the Own credit reserve through 
OCI and do not get recycled to the profit or loss. Interest earned or incurred on instruments designated at FVPL is accrued 
in interest income or interest expense, respectively, using the EIR, taking into account any discount/ premium and qualifying 
transaction costs being an integral part of instrument. Interest earned on assets mandatorily required to be measured at 
FVPL is recorded using the contractual interest rate. As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Bank has not recognized 
financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. 

2.4.4.7 Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments 

The Bank issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments. 

Financial guarantees are initially recognized in the financial statements (within Provisions) at fair value, being the premium 
received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the 
amount initially recognized less cumulative amortization recognized in the income statement, and an ECL allowance. 

The premium received (if any) is recognized in the income statement in Net fees and commission income on a straight-line 
basis over the life of the guarantee. 

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the commitment, the 
Bank is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. Similar to financial guarantee contracts, these 
contracts are in the scope of the ECL requirements. 

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments, where the loan 
agreed to be provided is on market terms, are not recorded on in the statement of financial position.  
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2.       Accounting policies (continued) 

2.4     Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.4.5 Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities 

The Bank does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition, apart from the exceptional 
circumstances in which the Bank acquires, disposes of, or terminates a business line. Financial liabilities are never 
reclassified. 

2.4.6 Impairment of financial assets 

2.4.6.1 Overview of the ECL principles 

The Bank records the allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at FVPL, 
together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, in this section all referred to as ‘financial instruments’.  

The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime expected credit 
loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination, in which case, the allowance 
is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL). The Bank’s policies for determining if there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk are set out in Note 29.2.  

The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that 
are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. 

2.4.6.1 Overview of the ECL principles (continued) 

Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on the nature of 
the underlying portfolio of financial instruments. The Bank’s policy for grouping financial assets measured on a collective 
basis is explained in Note 29.2. 

The Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of whether a financial 
instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by considering the change in the risk of default 
occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument. This is further explained in Note 29.2. 

Based on the above process, the Bank groups its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI, as described below: 

• Stage 1: When loans are first recognized, the Bank recognizes an allowance based on 12mECLs. Stage 1 loans also 
include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 2. 

• Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records an allowance for 
the LTECLs. Stage 2 loans also include facilities, where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified 
from Stage 3. 

• Stage 3: Loans considered credit-impaired. The bank records an allowance for the LTECLs. 

• POCI: Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial 
recognition. POCI assets are recorded at fair value at original recognition and interest income is subsequently recognized 
based on a credit-adjusted EIR. ECLs are only recognized or released to the extent that there is a subsequent change in 
the expected credit losses. 

For financial assets for which the Bank has no reasonable expectations of recovering either the entire outstanding amount, 
or a proportion thereof, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced. This is considered a (partial) de-
recognition of the financial asset. 

2.4.6.2 The calculation of ECL 

The Bank calculates ECLs based on a four probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls, 
discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that are due to an 
entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. 

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows: 

• PD - The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A default may only 
happen at a certain time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously de-recognized and is still in the 
portfolio.  

• EAD - The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected 
changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, whether scheduled by 
contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, collateral coverage and accrued interest from missed 
payments. 
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2.          Accounting policies (continued) 

2.4        Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.4.6     Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

2.4.6.2  The calculation of ECL (continued) 

• LGD - The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a given time. It is 
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, as set 
out in Note 2.4. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD. The LGD values are based on cash recoveries without 
discriminating whether the exposure is secured or not secured. For the loan to customer portfolio the LGD values vary from 
40% to 80% depending if they are secured through a residential property or commercial. 

When estimating the ECLs, the Bank considers four scenarios (a base case, an upside, a mild downside (‘downside 1’) 
and a more extreme downside (‘downside 2’)). Each of these is associated with different PDs, EADs and LGDs. When 
relevant, the assessment of multiple scenarios also incorporates how defaulted loans are expected to be recovered, 
including the probability that the loans will cure and the value of collateral or the amount that might be received for selling 
the asset. 

With the exception of credit cards and other revolving facilities, the maximum period for which the credit losses are 
determined is the contractual life of a financial instrument unless the Bank has the legal right to call it earlier. 

Impairment losses and releases are accounted for and disclosed separately from modification losses or gains that are 
accounted for as an adjustment of the financial asset’s gross carrying value.  

The mechanics of the ECL method are summarized below: 
 
• Stage 1: The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on 
a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. The Bank calculates the 12mECL 
allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12 months following the reporting date. These expected 
12-month default probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected LGD and discounted by an 
approximation to the original EIR. This calculation is made for each of the four scenarios, as explained above. 
• Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records an allowance for 
the LTECLs. The mechanics are similar to those explained above, including the use of multiple scenarios, but PDs and 
LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the instrument. The expected cash shortfalls are discounted by an approximation 
to the original EIR. 
• Stage 3: For loans considered credit-impaired, the Bank recognizes the lifetime expected credit losses for these loans. 
The method is similar to that for Stage 2 assets, with the PD set at 100%. 
• Default: Any financial asset that is past due more than 90 days. 
• POCI: POCI assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial recognition. The Bank only recognizes the 
cumulative changes in lifetime ECLs since initial recognition, based on a probability-weighting of the four scenarios, 
discounted by the credit adjusted EIR. 

2.4.6.3 Debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI  

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets in the 
statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance that would arise if 
the assets were measured at amortized cost is recognized in OCI as an accumulated impairment amount, with a 
corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated loss recognized in OCI is recycled to the profit and loss upon de-
recognition of the assets. 

2.4.6.4 Purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets (POCI) 

For POCI financial assets, the Bank only recognizes the cumulative changes in LTECL since initial recognition in the loss 
allowance. 

2.4.6.5 Forward looking information 

In its ECL models, the Bank relies on a broad range of forward-looking information as economic inputs, such as: 

GDP growth 

• Unemployment rates 

• Central Bank base rates 

• House price indices 

The inputs and models used for calculating ECL may not always capture all characteristics of the market at the date of the 
financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are occasionally made as temporary adjustments 
when such differences are significantly material. Detailed information about these inputs and sensitivity analysis are 
provided in Note 29.2. 

  



Banka Credins Kosovë sh.a. 
Notes to the financial statement for the year ended 31 December 2022 
(amounts in EUR ‘000, unless otherwise stated)  

18 
 

 
2.         Accounting Policies (continued) 

2.4       Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.4.6    Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

2.4.6.6 Offsetting financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities are set off and the net amount presented in the consolidated statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Bank has a legal right to set off the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when 
permitted by the accounting standards, or for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the 
Bank’s trading activity. 

2.4.7 Recognition of interest income and expenses 

2.4.7.1 The effective interest rate method 

Under both IFRS 9, interest income is recorded using the EIR method for all financial assets measured at amortized cost, 
interest rate derivatives for which hedge accounting is applied and the related amortization/recycling effect of hedge 
accounting. Interest income on interest bearing financial assets measured at FVOCI under IFRS 9 is also recorded using 
the EIR method. Interest expense is also calculated using the EIR method for all financial liabilities held at amortized cost. 
The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or 
liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 

The EIR (and therefore, the amortized cost of the financial asset) is calculated by taking into account transaction costs and 
any discount or premium on the acquisition of the financial asset, as well as fees and costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. The Bank recognizes interest income using a rate of return that represents the best estimate of a constant rate of 
return over the expected life of the loan. Hence, the EIR calculation also takes into account the effect of potentially different 
interest rates that may be charged at various stages of the financial asset’s expected life, and other characteristics of the 
product life cycle (including prepayments, penalty interest and charges). 

If expectations of fixed rate financial assets or liabilities’ cash flows are revised for reasons other than credit risk, then 
changes to future contractual cash flows are discounted at the original EIR with a consequential adjustment to the carrying 
amount. The difference from the previous carrying amount is booked as a positive or negative adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the financial asset or liability on the balance sheet with a corresponding increase or decrease in Interest 
revenue/expense calculated using the effective interest method. 

For floating-rate financial instruments, periodic re-estimation of cash flows to reflect the movements in the market rates of 
interest also alters the effective interest rate, but when instruments were initially recognized at an amount equal to the 
principal, re-estimating the future interest payments does not significantly affect the carrying amount of the asset or the 
liability. 

2.4.7.2 Interest and similar income/expense 

Net interest income comprises interest income and interest expense calculated using both the effective interest method 
and other methods. These are disclosed separately on the face of the income statement for both interest income and 
interest expense to provide symmetrical and comparable information. In its Interest income/expense calculated using the 
effective interest method. 

In its Interest income/expense calculated using the effective interest method, the Bank only includes interest on those 
financial instruments that are set out in Note 2.4.7.1 above. 

Other interest income/expense includes interest on all financial assets/liabilities measured at FVPL, other than those held 
for trading, using the contractual interest rate. Interest income/expense on all trading financial assets/liabilities is recognized 
as a part of the fair value change in Net trading income. The Bank calculates interest income on financial assets, other than 
those considered credit-impaired, by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. When a financial 
asset becomes credit-impaired (and is therefore regarded as ‘Stage 3’, the Bank calculates interest income by applying the 
EIR to the net amortized cost of the financial asset. If the financial asset cures (and is no longer credit-impaired, the Bank 
reverts to calculating interest income on a gross basis. 

For purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets the Bank calculates interest income by calculating the 
credit-adjusted EIR and applying that rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset. The credit-adjusted EIR is the interest 
rate that, at initial recognition, discounts the estimated future cash flows (including credit losses) to the amortized cost of 
the POCI financial asset. 

The Bank also holds investments in financial assets issued in countries with negative interest rates. The Bank discloses 
interest received on these financial assets as interest expense. Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and the revenue can be reliably measured. 
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2.       Accounting Policies (continued) 

2.4     Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.4.8  Fee and commission income and expense 

The Bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of financial services it provides to its customers. Fee 
and commission income is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Bank expects to be entitled 
in exchange for providing the services. 

Other fees and commission income, including account servicing fees, investment management fees, sales commission, 
placement fees and syndication fees, are recognized as the related services are performed.  

Other fees and commission expense relates mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the services 
are received. 

2.4.9 Net trading income 

Net trading income includes all gains and losses from changes in fair value and the related interest income or expense and 
dividends, for financial assets and financial liabilities held for trading. This is included in interest income line as Net trading 
income. 

2.4.10 Net loss on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 

Net loss on financial instruments at FVTPL represents non-trading derivatives held for risk management purposes used in 
economic hedge relationship but not qualifying for hedge accounting relationships, financial assets and financial liabilities 
designated as at FVTPL, also non-trading assets measured at FVTPL, as required by or elected under IFRS 9. The line 
item includes fair value changes, interest, dividends and foreign exchange differences. 

2.4.11 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include banknotes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with Central Bank and highly 
liquid financial assets with original maturities of less than three months, which are subject to insignificant risk of changes 
in their fair value, and are used by the Bank in the management of its short-term commitments. Cash and cash equivalents 
are carried at amortized cost in the statement of financial position. 

2.4.12 Investment securities 

Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs and subsequently 
accounted for depending on their classification as either debt securities at amortized cost, debt securities though other 
comprehensive income or debt securities at fair value through profit or loss (mandatory). 

2.4.13 Property Plant and equipment and right-of-use assets 

(i) Recognition and measurement 

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes 
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the 
cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its 
intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. 
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as part of that equipment. 
When parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major 
components) of property and equipment. 

(ii) Subsequent Cost 

The cost of replacing part of an item of property or equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable 
that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Bank and its cost can be measured reliably. The 
costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

 (iii)  Depreciation 

Depreciation is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line method . Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of 
the lease term and their useful lives. Land is not depreciated. Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reassessed at the reporting date. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The 
depreciation rates for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 
 
Fixed Assets Category Depreciation % 

Electronic equipment 20% 

Vehicles 20% 
Furniture’s, fittings and office equipment 20% 
Leasehold improvements 10% 
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2.       Accounting Policies (continued) 

2.4     Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.4.14 Intangible assets 

(i) Software 

Software acquired by the Bank is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 
Subsequent expenditure on software assets is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied 
in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. Amortization is recognized in profit 
or loss at 20% and 5% for intangible assets which have a definite duration based on the initial cost method from the date 
that it is available for use. 

(ii) Licenses 

Licenses and rights to use that are acquired by Bank are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment 
losses, if any. Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognized in profit or loss when incurred. Amortization is 
recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the license 10 Years (10%) or 20 years 
(5%), from the date that it is available for use. 

2.4.15 Impairment of non – financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are 

independent from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

2.4.16 Financial guarantees 

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it 

incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 

Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognized at their fair value, and the initial fair value is amortized over the life of 
the financial guarantee. The guarantee liability is subsequently carried at the higher of this amortized amount and the 
present value of any expected payment (when a payment under the guarantee has become probable). Financial guarantees 
are included within other liabilities. 

2.4.17 Pension benefits 

(i) Compulsory social security contributions 

The Bank makes only compulsory social security contributions that provide pension benefits for employees upon retirement. 
KPST authorities are responsible for providing the legally set minimum threshold for pensions under a defined contribution 
pension plan. The Bank’s contributions to the benefit pension plan are charged to the profit or loss as incurred 

(ii) Paid annual leave 

The Bank recognizes as a liability the undiscounted amount of the estimated costs related to annual leave expected to be 
paid in exchange of the employee’s service for the period completed. During 2022 and 2021, the Bnak has not recognized 
any liability for paid annual leaves. 

2.4.18 Provisions for contingent liabilities and commitments  

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions 

are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 

the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

A provision for restructuring is recognized when the Bank has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the 

restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating costs are not provided for. 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when the expected benefits to be derived by the Bank from a contract are 
lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present 
value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. 
Before a provision is established, the Bank recognizes any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract. 
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2.        Accounting policies (continued) 

2.4      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.4.19 Taxes 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable. 

(i) Current tax 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the statement 
of comprehensive income because of items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items 
that are never taxable or deductible.  

Corporate tax expense is recognized in the profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in 
equity or in other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years in accordance with the Kosovo tax 
legislation. Taxable income is calculated by adjusting the profit before taxes for certain income and expenses as required 
by law in the Republic of Kosovo.   

(ii) Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the Financial 
Statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary 
differences can be utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability 
is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rates and tax laws in Albania that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences 
that would follow from the manner in which the Bank expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  

 (iii) Current and deferred tax for the year 

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.  

2.4.20 Repossessed properties 

The Bank’s policy is to determine whether a repossessed asset is best used for its internal operations or should be sold. 

Assets determined to be useful for the internal operations of the Bank are transferred to their relevant asset category at the 

lower of their repossessed value or the carrying value of the original secured asset.  

Repossessed properties must be acquired through enforcement of collateral over loans and advances. The Bank will 
measure repossessed assets initially at their cost (purchase price). At the end of each reporting period, these assets will 
measure at the lowest of their cost or net realizable value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the net realizable 
value of these repossessed properties will be included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. These assets will 
be derecognized upon disposal or when these are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits will 
be expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the properties (calculated as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) will included in profit or loss in the period in which 
the property is derecognized, under the applicable law in the Republic of Kosovo. As at 31 December 2022 the Bank has 
no repossessed collaterals.  

2.4.21 Deposits and subordinated liabilities 

Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities are the Bank’s chief sources of debt funding. When the Bank 
sells a financial asset and simultaneously enters into a “repo” agreement to repurchase the asset (or a similar asset) at a 
fixed price on a future date, the arrangement is accounted for as a deposit, and the underlying asset continues to be 
recognized in the Bank’s Financial Statements. 

Deposits, debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, and 
subsequently measured at their amortized cost using the effective interest method, except where the Bank chooses to carry 
the liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost 
of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part 
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial 
liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period. 
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2.        Accounting Policies (continued) 

2.4      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.4.22 Dividends 

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity when they are approved by the Bank’s 
shareholders. 

For the year on 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Bank has not declared any dividends payable to its shareholders. 

2.4.23 Equity reserves 

The reserves recorded in equity (other comprehensive income) on the Bank’s statement of financial position include: 

“General reserve” reserve which comprises changes made for legal and statutory reserve as determined in the Central 
Bank Law and Commercial Companies Law applicable in Kosovo and  

“Revaluation reserve” which is used to record exchange differences arising from the revaluation of investment securities. 

For the year ending 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Bank has recorded “revaluation reserve” as a result of the securities 
investment portfolio.  

2.4.24 Write-offs 

Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Bank has no reasonable expectation of 
recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated 
loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying 
amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss expense. 

2.4.25 Forborne and modified loans 

The Bank sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the borrower’s 
financial difficulties, rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce collection of collateral. The Bank considers a 
loan forborne when such concessions or modifications are provided as a result of the borrower’s present or expected 
financial difficulties and the Bank would not have agreed to them if the borrower had been financially healthy. Indicators of 
financial difficulties include defaults on covenants, or significant concerns raised by the Credit Risk Department. 
Forbearance may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions. Once the terms 
have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the original EIR as calculated before the modification of terms. 
It is the Bank’s policy to monitor forborne loans to help ensure that future payments continue to be likely to occur. 
De-recognition decisions and classification between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are determined on a case-by-case basis. If these 
procedures identify a loss in relation to a loan, it is disclosed and managed as an impaired Stage 3 forborne asset until it 
is collected or written off. 

2.4.26 Leases 

The Bank assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the 
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 

Right-of-use assets 

The Bank recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is 
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, 
and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease 
liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any 
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

The right-of-use assets are presented within Note 18 Right-of-use assets and are subject to impairment in line with the 
Bank’s policy as described in Note 2.4.15 Impairment of non-financial assets. 

Lease liabilities  

At the commencement date of the lease, the Bank recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease 
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (less any lease incentives 
receivable), variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual 
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be 
exercised by the Bank and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects exercising the option 
to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses in the period 
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 
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2.        Accounting Policies (continued) 

2.4      Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

2.4.26 Leases (continued) 

2.4.26.1 Bank as a lessor 

Leases where the Bank transfers substantially all the risk and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as finance 
leases. In the statement of financial position, the Bank presents the receivable amount equal to the net investment value. 
The recognition of finance income shall be based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor's 
net investment in the finance lease. Lease payments relating to the period, excluding costs for services, are applied against 
the gross investment in the lease to reduce both the principal and the unearned finance income.  

The sales revenue recognized at the commencement of the lease term by a manufacturer or dealer lessor is the fair value 
of the asset, or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments accruing to the lessor, computed at a market 
rate of interest. 
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3 Net Interest income 
 Year ended  Year ended 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method      

Total interest income 1,366.07   229.05 

Interest expense calculated using the effective interest method      

Restricted cash with Central Bank  (8.08)   (28.51) 

Interest expense related to the lease (note 18)  (129.30)  (98.05) 

Deposits from customers  (289.91)  (60.50) 

Deposits from banks  (14.83)   (4.39) 

Total interest expense  (442.13)  (191.45) 

Net interest income / (expense) 923.94    37.61  

 
Interest rates on term deposits vary depending on the maturity of the deposit. The annual interest rates on time deposits 
with customers at the end of the reporting period were as follows: • 2022 – max N/I 3.0%, min N/I 0.1%  • 2021 – max N/I  
2.5%, min N/I 0.1% 
 

4 Net Fee and commission income and expense 

 Year ended  Year ended 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 

Fee and commission income      

Banking customer fees 105.11   24.45  

Fee and commissions from lending services   108.19    21.03  

Total fee and commission income    213.30   45.48  

Fee and commission expense      

Interbank transaction fees  (42.22)  (26.41) 

Other  (94.68)  (10.08) 

Total fee and commission expense  (136.90)  (36.49) 

Net fee and commission income 76.39   8.99  

 
5 Net gains/ (losses) on financial assets at FVOCI 

 Year ended  Year ended 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 

Premium amortized  (0.98)  (0.49) 

Interest income of Government bonds   168.10   77.75  

Deferred discount   6.06   2.31  

 Net gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities at FV  173.18   79.57  

 
6 Foreign exchange gains/(losses) 

 Year ended  Year ended 

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 

From Investments in Foreign Entities 0.00  0.00  

From Other Items in Foreign Currency (0.81)   3.50  

 Net Foreign exchange gains/(losses)  (0.81)  3.50  
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7 Credit losses on financial assets, net 

   Year ended    Year ended  

  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 

Charges for ECL on cash and loans and advances to banks  (8.46)  (0.41) 

Charges for ECL on off balance sheet item  (6.31)  (9.28) 

Charges for ECL on loans and advances to customer   (648.02)  (241.50) 

 Total  (662.79)  (251.19) 

8 Personnel expenses 

  Year ended    Year ended  

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 

Remuneration of Executive and Supervision Boards  107.87   79.92  

Remuneration of Employees  599.79   349.05  

Mandatory Social Charges  34.10   4.58  

Other Staff Costs  10.32   0.32  

Total  752.08   433.87 

9 General and administrative expenses 

 
 Year ended  

  Year 
ended  

 31.12.2022  31.12.2021 

General administrative expenses  329.50    218.26  

Other Sundry Supplies & Services  244.15    75.66  

Other tariffs  144.28    165.15  

Security  57.55    49.67  

Outsourcing, Consultancy & Specialized Work  53.44    32.43  

Electricity & Water  38.04    28.91  

Advertising & Marketing  31.40    18.49  

Communications  20.39    19.13  

Transportation  12.54    0.15  

Insurance and surveillance  10.75    7.24  

Cleaning And Hygiene   2.58    1.49  

Lawyers And Other Legal Assistance  0.11    0.10  

  944.73    616.68  

General administrative include software maintenance for licenses less than one year. Other tariffs include mainly the 
amortisation of annual licenses paid to MasterCard, VISA or CBK as well as other tariffs payable by the Bank. Insurance 
and surveillance include the payment of the initial premium paid to the Deposit Insurance Fund as per the applicable law. 
Safety includes the contracts for the safety of the Banks premises. Other Sundry supplies and services has increased as 
a result of the increase of the banking activity.  

10 Income tax expense 

As per the tax regulation applicable in Kosovo, companies are obliged to pay 10% income tax on the profit. Taxable losses 
can be carried for 4 consecutive years. For the year 2022 Banka Credins Kosovë Sh.a. has incurred losses at (1,940.26 
euro) and therefore has no income tax payable. 

Income tax expense comprises of: 

 

 Year ended 
31.12.2022 

Year ended  
31.12.2021 

   

Current income tax expense 0.00 0.00 

Deferred tax  10.80 9.00 

   

The income tax charge differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate applicable 
to profits of the bank. 
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10 Income tax expense (continued) 

 

Deferred tax is calculated based on the enacted tax rate of 10%. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized only to the extent 
that realization of the related tax benefit is probable. 

Movement in deferred tax liability is presented below: 

   Year ended     Year ended  

  31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

     

Opening balance   9.00  0.00 

Revaluation difference Government bonds  17.95  90.02 

Movement of deferred tax    (16.15)  (81.02) 

Deferred tax asset as at year end    10.80  9.00 

 

The carry forward period for any tax losses in accordance with the Kosovo Tax Law is four years. Income tax is assessed 
at the rate of 10% (2021: 10%) of taxable income. 

 

11 Cash and cash equivalents and Deposits in banks 

  31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

 Current accounts with banks   559.45                     1,133.11  

 Allowance for ECL for balances with banks   (0.20)                          (0.41) 

 Cash on hand   5,022.33                     1,456.52  

 Unrestricted balances with Central bank   4,328.06                     2,247.32  

  9,909.64                     4,836.54  
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  11   Cash and cash equivalents and Deposits in banks (continued) 

 

An analysis of changes in the corresponding of gross carrying amount and ECLs is, as follow: 

 

 Gross carrying amount 31.12.2022 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance 01.01.2022 
                

4,836.95  
 -   -  

                                  
4,836.95  

Balance at 1 January IFRS 9   -       -     -             -    

   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3)   -     -     -             -    

   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3)   -     -     -             -    

   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2)   -     -     -               -    

Net re-measurement of loss allowance   -     -                 -    

New financial assets originated or purchased 
                

5,646.55  
  -   

                                    
5,646.55  

De-recognition of financial assets 
                   

(573.66) 
  -   

                                      
(573.66) 

Write-offs   -     -     -              -    

Changes in models/risk parameters   -     -     -             -    

Foreign exchange and other movements   -     -     -             -    

Change in PV of the allowance Account   -     -     -             -    

Balance 31.12.2022 9,909.85           -    
                                

-    
  9,909.85  

     

Balance 01.01.2021 7,811.49   -   -  
           

7,811.49  

Balance at 1 January IFRS 9   -       -     -              -    

   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3)   -     -     -              -    

   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3)   -     -     -               -    

   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2)   -     -     -              -    

Net re-measurement of loss allowance   -     -                       -    

New financial assets originated or purchased 1,133.11    -     -    1,133.11  

De-recognition of financial assets  (4,108.06)   -     -     (4,108.06) 

Write-offs   -     -     -                -    

Changes in models/risk parameters   -     -     -             -    

Foreign exchange and other movements   -     -     -                 -    

Change in PV of the allowance Account   -     -     -                  -    

Balance 31.12.2021   4,836.54            -        -     4,836.54  
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       11   Cash and cash equivalents and Deposits in banks (continued) 
 

 ECL 31.12.2022 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance 01.01.2022 0.41 0.00 0.00 0.41 

Balance at 1 January IFRS 9  0.00     0.00   0.00   0.00    

   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3)  0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00  

   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3)  0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00  

   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2)  0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00  

Net re-measurement of loss allowance  0.00   0.00  0.00  0.00  

New financial assets originated or purchased 0.00  0.00   0.00  0.00 

De-recognition of financial assets (0.21)   0.00   0.00   (0.21)  

Write-offs  0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00  

Changes in models/risk parameters  0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00  

Foreign exchange and other movements  0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00  

Change in PV of the allowance Account  0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00  

Balance 31.12.2022 0.20  0.00   0.00  0.20 

Balance 1.1.2022  0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00  

Balance at 1 January IFRS 9   0.00       0.00     0.00     0.00     

   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3)   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00   

   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3)   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00   

   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2)   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00   

Net re-measurement of loss allowance   0.00     0.00   0.00   0.00   

New financial assets originated or purchased  0.41    0.00     0.00    0.41  

De-recognition of financial assets   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00   

Write-offs   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00   

Changes in models/risk parameters   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00   

Foreign exchange and other movements   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00   

Change in PV of the allowance Account   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00   

Balance 31.12.2021  0.41    0.00     0.00    0.41  

12 Restricted balances with Central Bank 

 

  31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

Restricted balances with Central Bank  961.83                        880.00  

Negative interest for balances with Central Bank 0.00                            (0.73) 

Balances with Central Bank, net  961.83                        879.27  

 
In accordance with the requirements of the Central Bank regarding the deposit reserve for liquidity purposes, the Bank 
must maintain a minimum of 10% of customer deposits with a maturity of up to one year, in the Central Bank as a reserve 
account. Mandatory reserves represent instruments with high liquidity, including cash, accounts with the CBK, or with other 
banks in Kosovo, and the amounts held with the CBK shall not be less than half of the total reserves. The assets with which 
the Bank can meet its liquidity requirements are Euro deposits with the CBK and 50% of the Euro equivalent of cash in 
easily convertible currencies. Deposits with the CBK should not be less than 5% of the applicable deposit base. 
The reserve expressed in euro represents an interest rate that is equal to the deposit rate announced by the European 
Central Bank which on 31 December 2022 was (0.0%) (2021 was (-0.7%). The Central Bank will calculate interest on the 
mandatory reserve starting from January 2023 at 0.15%.  
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13 Due from banks and other financial institutions 

 
 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-21 

Due from banks  1,500.09  0.00 

Interest for balances with Due from banks 3.79  0.00 

Allowance for impairment (8.66) 0.00 

Balances with Central Bank, net 1,495.22  0.00 

 
 

 Gross carrying amount 31.12.2022 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance 01.01.2022 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Balance at 1 January IFRS 9 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2) 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Net re-measurement of loss 
allowance 

0.00  0.00  
0.00  

0.00  

New financial assets originated or 
purchased 

1,503.88  0.00  
0.00  

1,503.88  

De-recognition of financial assets 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Write-offs 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Changes in models/risk parameters 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Foreign exchange and other 
movements 

0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Change in PV of the allowance 
Account 

0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Balance 31.12.2022 1,503.88  0.00  0.00  1,503.88  

 
 

 ECL 31.12.2022 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance 01.01.2022 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Balance at 1 January IFRS 9 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2) 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Net re-measurement of loss 
allowance 

0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

New financial assets originated or 
purchased 

8.66  0.00  0.00  8.66  

De-recognition of financial assets 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Write-offs 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Changes in models/risk parameters 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Foreign exchange and other 
movements 

0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Change in PV of the allowance 
Account 

0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Balance 31.12.2022 8.66  0.00  0.00  8.66  
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14 Financial assets measured at FVOCI 

Investment securities held for trading as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are as follows: 

  31.12.2022  31.12.2021 

 Government bonds  6,127.75   4,921.54  

  6,127.75  4,921.54  

As of 31 December 2022, the Bank had a portfolio of government bonds 3Y, 5Y, 7Y and 10Y expressed in local currency 
(EUR). Interest is received semi-annually with a coupon rate 1.1%-1.3% (3Y), 2%-2.2% (5Y), 2.9%-3.2% (7Y) and 3.85% 
(10Y).  
 
Details of the government bonds as of 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 by maturity, book value and fair value 
as at the reporting date are as below:  

Government bonds   
 31 December 2022 

  
 Nominal 

value  

Premium to 
be 

amortized 

Deferred 
discount  

Accrued 
interest  

 
Amortized 

cost 

Revaluation 
difference  

 Fair 
value  

 36 months  760.00  0.00  (1.04)  27.41   786.37   (5.99)  780.38  

 60 months  500.00  0.00  (5.36)  2.49   1,097.13   13.02   1,110.15  

 84 months  1,600.00   2.73   (9.71)  12.29   1,805.31   3.22   1,808.53  

 120 months  1,950.00   4.18   (28.10)  14.89   2,330.96   97.72   2,428.68  

  4,810.00   6.91   (44.21)  57.08   6,019.78   107.97   6,127.75  

31 December 2021 

 36 months   760.00  0.00  (1.88)  2.49   760.61   2.77   763.38  

 60 months   500.00  0.00  (0.52)  3.61   503.09   9.17   512.26  

 84 months   1,600.00   3.22   (5.85)  13.92   1,611.29   35.41   1,646.70  

 120 months   1,950.00   4.67   (20.32)  22.18   1,956.53   42.67   1,999.20  

  4,810.00   7.89   (28.57)  42.20   4,831.52   90.02   4,921.54  
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14   Financial assets measured at FVOCI (continued) 

Government bonds  

   31 December 2022 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Internal rating grade         

 AAA  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 AA+ to AA-  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 A+ to A-  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 BBB+ to BBB-  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 Lower than BBB-  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

 Unrated  6,127.75 0.00 0.00 6,127.75 

Exposure before impairment 6,127.75 0.00 0.00 6,127.75 

 Loss allowance  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Carrying amount 6,127.75 0.00 0.00 6,127.75 

  31 December 2021   

Internal rating grade     
 AAA  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
 AA+ to AA-  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
 A+ to A-  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
 BBB+ to BBB-  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
 Lower than BBB-  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
 Unrated   4,921.54  0.00 0.00  4,921.54  
Exposure before impairment  4,921.54  0.00 0.00  4,921.54  
 Loss allowance   -  0.00 0.00  -  

Carrying amount  4,921.54  0.00 0.00  4,921.54  

An analysis of changes in the corresponding of gross carrying amount and ECLs is, as follow: 

 Gross carrying amount  31 December 2022 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance at 1 January          4,921.54  0.00 0.00     4,921.54 

   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Net re-measurement of loss allowance 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

New financial assets originated or purchased 1,190.06 0.00 0.00 1,190.06 

De-recognition of financial assets 0.00  0.00 0.00 0.00  

Change in fair value 16.15 0.00 0.00 16.15 

Write-offs 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Changes in models/risk parameters 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Foreign exchange and other movements 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Change in PV of the allowance Account 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Balance 31.12.2022 6,127.75 0.00 0.00 6,127.75 
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15 Loans and advances to customers 

Loans and advances to customers consist of the following: 

  31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

Loans and advances to customers consist of the following:    

 Loans and advances to customers at amortized cost   35,960.13                  11,008.16  

 Allowances for ECL   (889.58)                     (241.55) 

Loans and advances to customers, net  35,070.55                  10,766.61  

Loans and advances to customers by product classification are presented as follows: 

  31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

 Corporate lending   7,563.80    3,352.31  

 Mortgage lending   3,836.98    859.08  

 Private individuals lending   1,466.79    449.56  

 Micro lending  7,548.26   3,756.04 

SE 15,544.30  2,591.17 

 Total gross   35,960.13    11,008.16  

Allowances for ECL  (889.58)   (241.55) 

  35,070.55    10,766.61  

 

Movements in the allowance provision is presented below: 

  Year ended    Year ended  

  31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

At the beginning of the year   (241.55)                          (0.05) 

Allowance for ECL (note 7)  (811.20)   (267.40) 

Recovery of provisions (note 7)  163.17   25.90 

Write offs 0.00  0.00 

Effect of foreign currency movements 0.00  0.00 

At the end of the year  (889.58)                     (241.55) 

 

An analysis of changes in the corresponding of gross carrying amount and ECLs is, as follow: 

 Gross carrying amount  31 December 2022 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance at 1 January  10,963.47  0.00  44.69  11,008.16  
   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) (12.18) 12.18  0.00  0.00  
   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2) (17.64) 0.00  17.64  0.00  
Net re-measurement of loss allowance 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
New financial assets originated or purchased 32,609.80  0.00  0.00  32,609.80  
De-recognition of financial assets (7,687.65) 0.00  0.00  (7,687.65) 
Change in fair value 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Write-offs 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Changes in models/risk parameters 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Foreign exchange and other movements 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Balance 31.12.2022 35,855.81  12.18  62.33  35,960.13  

 

ECL  31 December 2022 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance at 1 January  209.00  0.00  32.55  241.55  
   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) (5.59) 5.59  0.00  0.00  
   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2) (12.95) 0.00  12.95  0.00  
Net re-measurement of loss allowance 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
New financial assets originated or purchased 1,131.12  0.00  0.00  1,131.12  
De-recognition of financial assets (483.10) 0.00  0.00  (483.10) 
Change in fair value 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Write-offs 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Changes in models/risk parameters 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Foreign exchange and other movements 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Balance 31.12.2022 838.49  5.59  45.50  889.58  
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       15     Loans and advances to customers (continued) 
 

   31 December 2021 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance at 1 January              5.97   -   -              5.97  

   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 
   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2)         (44.69)               -    44.69  0.00 

Net re-measurement of loss allowance 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

New financial assets originated or purchased    12,254.24  0.00 0.00         12,254.24  

De-recognition of financial assets (1,252.05) 0.00 0.00          (1,252.05) 

Change in fair value 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Write-offs 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Changes in models/risk parameters 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Foreign exchange and other movements 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Change in PV of the allowance Account 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Balance 31.12.2021   10,963.47  0.00            44.69          11,008.16  

 
 

   31 December 2021 

  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Balance at 1 January  0.05  0.00  0.00  0.05  

   Transfer to Stage 1 (from 2 or 3) 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

   Transfer to Stage 2 (from 1 or 3) 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

   Transfer to Stage 3 (from 1 or 2) (32.55) 0.00  32.55  0.00  

Net re-measurement of loss allowance 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

New financial assets originated or purchased 266.49  0.00  0.00  266.49  

De-recognition of financial assets (25.04) 0.00  0.00  (25.04) 

Change in fair value 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Write-offs 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Changes in models/risk parameters 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Foreign exchange and other movements 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Change in PV of the allowance Account 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Balance 31.12.2021 208.95  0.00  32.55  241.50  
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            15     Loans and advances to customers (continued) 

      The tables below show an analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowance for ECL for each of the above categories: 

  31 December 2022 

Gross carrying amount Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   POCI   Total 

  Non Past Due Past due  Non Past Due Past due  Non Past Due Past due  Non Past Due Past due    
Retail lending  5,278.10  0.00 0.00  12.18  0.00  13.50  0.00 0.00  5,303.77  
Mortgage  3,836.98  0.00 0.00 0.00    0.00 0.00    0.00 0.00  3,836.98  
Consumer  1,441.11  0.00 0.00  12.18  0.00  13.50  0.00 0.00  1,466.79  
Other  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  0.00    0.00 0.00  0.00    
Corporate lending  30,607.53  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  48.83  0.00 0.00  30,656.36  
Large  7,563.80  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  0.00    0.00 0.00  7,563.80  
SME's  23,043.72  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  48.83  0.00 0.00  23,092.56  
Public sector 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  0.00    0.00 0.00  0.00    

Total  35,885.62  0.00 0.00  12.18  0.00  62.33  0.00 0.00  35,960.13  

                    

ECL allowance Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   POCI   Total 

  Non Past Due Past due  Non Past Due Past due  Non Past Due Past due  Non Past Due Past due    
Retail lending  39.33   0.00     0.00     5.59   0.00     9.94   0.00     0.00     54.86  
Mortgage  34.76     0.00         34.76  
Consumer  4.57     5.59    9.94     20.10  
Other   0.00       0.00         0.00    
Corporate lending  799.15   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     35.56   0.00     0.00     834.72  
Large  147.01     0.00         147.01  
SME's  652.15     0.00      35.56     687.71  
Public sector  0.00       0.00         0.00    

Total  838.49   0.00     0.00     5.59   0.00     45.50   0.00     0.00     889.58  

 Net carrying amount  35,047.14   0.00     0.00     6.59   0.00     16.82   0.00     0.00     35,070.55  
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             15     Loans and advances to customers (continued) 

       The tables below show an analysis of changes in gross carrying amount and the corresponding allowance for ECL for each of the above categories: 
 

  31 December 2021 

Gross carrying amount Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   POCI   Total 

  Non Past Due Past due  Non Past Due Past due  Non Past Due Past due  Non Past Due Past due    
Retail lending  1,308.65   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     1,308.65  
Mortgage  859.09   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00   0.00   859.09  
Consumer  449.56   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00   0.00   449.56  
Other   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00   0.00    
Corporate lending  9,654.82   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     44.69   0.00     0.00     9,699.51  
Large  3,352.32   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00   0.00   3,352.32  
SME's  6,302.52   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     44.69   0.00   0.00   6,347.21  
Public sector          

Total  10,963.47   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     44.69   0.00     0.00     11,008.16  

                    

ECL allowance Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   POCI   Total 

  Non Past Due Past due  Non Past Due Past due  Non Past Due Past due  Non Past Due Past due    
Retail lending 9.21  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    9.21 
Mortgage 7.79  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    7.79 
Consumer 1.42  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    1.42 
Other   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    
Corporate lending 199.79  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    32.55  0.00     0.00    232.34 
Large 65.93  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    65.93 
SME's 133.86  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    32.55  0.00     0.00    166.41 
Public sector 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  0.00 0.00 0.00 

Total 209.00   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    32.55  0.00     0.00    241.55 

 Net carrying amount 10,754.47  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    12.14  0.00     0.00    10,766.61 
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16 Property and equipment 

  
Electronic 
and office 

equipment  

Vehicles, 
Furniture & 

Fittings  

 Leasehold 
improvements  

Work in 
progress 

 Total  

Cost           

Balance at 31 December 2020 367.51 156.59 808.33 773.93 2,106.36 

Additions 115.33 20.82 181.39 619.51 937.05 

Transfers 112.43 276.86 408.4 (797.69) 0.00 

Disposals (0.07) (1.29) 0.00 0.00  (1.36) 

Balance at 31 December 2021 595.2 452.98 1,398.12 595.75 3,042.05 

Additions  56.56   17.19   59.71   708.89   842.35  

Transfers  216.82   178.90   552.10   (947.81)  0.00    

Disposals 0.00 0.00 0.00  0.00     0.00    

Balance at 31 December 2022  868.57   649.06   2,009.93   356.83  3,884.40  

Depreciation         

Balance at 31 December 2020  (15.29)  (5.56)  (15.57) 0.00  (36.42) 

Depreciation for the period  (107.52)  (77.57)  (123.45) 0.00  (308.54) 

Balance at 31 December 2021  (122.81)  (83.13)  (139.02) 0.00     (344.96) 

Depreciation for the period  (152.32)  (119.77)  (185.80) 0.00  (457.89) 

Balance at 31 December 2022  (275.13)  (202.90)  (324.82) 0.00  (802.85) 

          

Net Book Value           

Balance at 31 December 2021 472.39  369.85  1,259.10  595.75  2,697.09  

Balance at 31 December 2022  593.45   446.16   1,685.11   356.83  3,081.55  

 
As at 31 December 2022, work in progress consists of assets purchases that contribute to improve the leases hold by the 
Bank, specifically the investment in the Pristina Branch 2, located in Street B that has started operation in February 2023.  
 
As at 31 December 2022 there are no property and equipment encumbered of pledged to secure bank liabilities.  

17 Intangible assets 

Cost  Software    Patents and licenses   Total  

Balance at 31 December 2020 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Additions 463.86                   44.25                   508.11  

Transfers 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Disposals 0.00 0.00 0.00 

Balance at 31 December 2021  463.86   44.25   508.11  

Additions  160.34   0.00    160.34 
Transfers 0.00  0.00    0.00 

Balance at 31 December 2022  624.20   44.25   668.45  

        
Amortization       
Balance at 31 December 2021 0.00 0.00 0.00 
Amortization charge for the year  (7.56)                    (0.58)  (8.14) 

Balance at 31 December 2021  (7.56)                    (0.58)  (8.14) 
Amortization charge for the year  (40.77)  (2.33)  (43.10) 

Balance at 31 December 2022  (48.33)  (2.91)  (51.24) 

        
Carrying amounts       

Balance at 31 December 2021 456.30                    43.67                   499.97  

Balance at 31 December 2022  575.87   41.34   617.21  
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18 Right of use assets 

Bank as a lessee 
The Bank has lease contracts for various buildings that it uses for the branches’ operations. Leases of the premises 
generally have lease terms between 5 and 20 years. The Bank’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s 
title to the leased assets. Generally, the Bank is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets. There are 
several lease contracts that include extension and termination options, which are further discussed below. 
 
Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognized and the movements during the period: 
 

Cost 
31 December 

2022 
 31 December 2021 

Balance as at 1 January  1,987.68   1,647.76  

Addition  648.58   339.92  

Balance at 31 December  2,636.26   1,987.68  

Amortization    

Balance at 1 January  (227.42)   (47.07) 

Depreciation charge for the year  (252.34)   (180.35) 

Balance at 31 December  (479.76)   (227.42) 

Net Book Value    

Balance at 31 December  2,156.50   1,760.26  

 
The following are the amounts recognized in profit or loss: 

 
31 December 

2022 
 31 December 2021 

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets  (252.34)  (180.35) 

Interest expense on lease liabilities (note 3)  (129.30)  (98.05) 

Total amount recognized in profit or loss  (381.64)   (278.40) 

19 Other assets 

 
 31 December 

2022 
  31 December 2021 

Debtors  3.39   0.55  

Inventory warehouse   29.45   4.03 

Deferred expenses  478.09   152.59  

Prepaid expenses  64.82   2.57  

Total  575.75   159.74 

 
Other debtors include prepaid interest for term-deposits with maturity up to 5 years as per agreements with clients... 
Inventory include all purchases in the warehouse which are not yet in use, which will be used for the new branches in Peja 
and Pristina 2 that the leasehold improvements will be finalized during the year 2023.  

20 Due to banks and other financial institutions    

  31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

Due to Banks 0.00                    2,000.00  

Accrued interest 0.00                            1.94  

                   0.00                     2,001.94  
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21 Due to customers 

 31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

Private individuals  7,200.09   1,362.17  

Sovereign governments  0.00     0.00  

Corporate  41,175.62   12,153.52  

Other customers  509.28   32.49  

  48,884.99   13,548.18 

 
The table below shows due to customers by currency are detailed as follows: 

 31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

Current accounts      

Local currency  8,206.22   4,917.92  

Foreign currency  184.98   5.55  

Saving accounts     

Local currency  702.30   831.60  

Foreign currency  2.64   98.34  

Term deposits     

Local currency  37,696.69   7,681.12  

Foreign currency  1,701.00   13.65  

Other customers’ accounts     

Local currency  391.16   0.00    

Foreign currency  0.00      0.00    

Total   48,884.99   13,548.18  

22 Deferred tax liabilities 

   31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

Revaluation difference Government bonds   107.97   90.02  

Net liabilities for deferred tax  (97.17)   (81.02) 

    

Deferred tax liabilities 10%  10.80   9.00  

The deferred tax liability arises from the revaluation of instruments for which fair value fluctuations are recorded in the 
revaluation reserve in equity, through the statement of comprehensive income. 

23 Provisions 

   31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

ECL for off balance sheet items individual 0.01  0.01  

ECL for off balance sheet items Private entities 15.58   9.27  

 Total 15.59   9.28  

24 Lease liability 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the period: 

 31 December 2022 
 31 December 

2021 

As at 1 January    1,805.93   1,605.66  

Additions 648.58   339.92  

Payments (332.57)  (237.70) 

Total 2,121.94   1,707.88 

Accretion of interest 129.30   98.05 

Balance as at 31 December 
                                      

2,251.24  
 

1,805.93  
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24 Lease liability (continued) 

Minimal lease payments related to lease contracts for buildings of the branches’ operations are analysed as follows: 

 Minimal lease payments 

31 December 2022  Within 1 year 
 

1-2 year 
 

2-3 year 
 

3-4 year 
 

4-5 year After 5 years Total 

Lease payments   348.41   348.41   348.41   348.41   348.41   1,100.37   2,842.43  
Finance charges    (126.40)  (112.98)  (98.76)  (83.67)  (67.68)  (101.69)  (591.19) 

Total  222.01   235.43   249.65   264.74   280.73   998.68   2,251.24  

        

31 December 2021  Within 1 year 
 

1-2 year 
 

2-3 year 
 

3-4 year 
 

4-5 year After 5 years Total 

Lease payments  262.85  262.85  262.85  262.84  262.84  1,005.11  2,319.34  

Finance charges    (101.87)  (92.14)  (81.83)  (70.89)  (59.28)  (107.40) (513.41) 

Total 160.98  170.70  181.02  191.96  203.56  897.72  1,805.93  

 
25 Other liabilities 

Other liabilities are comprised of the following: 

 31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

Taxes - Payable  16.59   31.26  

Other Payable Creditors  220.38   140.42  

Total  236.98                        171.68 

 
Tax liabilities are liabilities incurred for withholding tax of December 2022 which are paid in January 2023. Other liabilities 
include liabilities to suppliers which are paid in January year 2023.   

26 Shareholders Capital 

In accordance with Law no. 04 / L-093 on "Banks, Microfinance Institutions and Non-Bank Financial Institutions", the 

minimum share capital for banks operating in Kosovo must be 7 million Euro. 

The bank's shareholders capital consists of 12,056,628 (twelve million fifty six thousand and six hundred twenty eight) 
Euros (2021: 10,651,628 euro). The share capital consists of 12,056,628 shares with a nominal value of 1 (one) Euro per 
share (2021: 10,651,628). The share capital is 66.35% owned by Credins JSC Bank in Albania. During 2022, one 
shareholder was added, SA Financial Holding L.L.C holding share of 10.78% of the total number of shares of the bank. 

The shareholders of the Bank and the respective shares held by them are as follows: 

 

31 December 
2022 

In EUR 

31 December 
2022 
(%) 

 31 December 
2021  

In EUR 

31 December 
2021  
(%) 

Credins Bank Albania  8,000,000 66.35%  8,000,000 75.11% 

A.F.C 1,851,851 15.36%  1,851,851 17.39% 

SA Financial Holding L.L.C. SHPK 1,300,000 10.78%  0.00 0.00% 

Other (individuals) 904,777 7.51%  799,777 7.50% 

Total 12,056,628 100.00%  10,651,628 100.00% 

 
Reconciliation of the paid capital for the beginning and end of the period is as below: 

   Number of shares  Amount in EUR  

  31-Dec-22 31-Dec-21 31-Dec-22 31-Dec-21 

As at 1 January  10,651,628  8,000,000   10,651.63  8,000.00  

Increase   1,405,000  2,651,628    1,405.00  2,651.63  

As at 31 December 12,056,628  10,651,628  12,056.63  10,651.63  

 

The capital amount per 12,056,628 shares was signed and registered with the Kosovo Business Registration Agency 
(KBRA). The Bank's shares have a nominal value and are indivisible. Each share entitles its holder to one vote. The 
shareholder’s capital is fully paid as at 31 December 2022. 
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27 Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities 

31 December 2022   < 12 months  > 12 months   Total  

Assets         

Cash and deposits at central banks    9,350.39   0.00     9,350.39  

Deposits in banks    559.45   0.00     559.45  

Restricted balances with Central Bank    961.83   0.00     961.83  

Due from banks and other financial institutions   1,503.88   0.00     1,503.88  

Financial assets designated at FVOCI    179.78   5,947.97   6,127.75  

Loans and advances to clients    5,659.74   30,300.40   35,960.13  

Property and equipment    0.00     3,081.55   3,081.55  

Intangible assets    0.00     617.21   617.21  

Right-of-use assets    0.00     2,156.50   2,156.50  

Other assets    202.66   373.09   575.75  

Total assets    18,417.73   42,476.71   60,894.45  

Liabilities         

Due to banks and other financial institutions    0.00     0.00     0.00    

Due to customers    22,995.71   25,889.28   48,884.99  

Deferred tax liabilities    10.80  0.00  10.80  

Provisions    15.59  0.00  15.59  

Lease    0.00     2,251.24   2,251.24  

Other liabilities    211.23   25.74   236.98  

Total liabilities    23,233.34   28,166.26   51,399.60  

          

Net    (4,815.60)  14,310.45   9,494.85  

     

31 December 2021  < 12 months  > 12 months   Total  

Assets     

Cash and deposits at central banks   3,703.43   0.00     3,703.43 

Deposits in banks   1,133.11   0.00    1,133.11 

Restricted balances with Central Bank   879.27   0.00    879.27  

Due from banks and other financial institutions     

Financial assets designated at FVOCI   141.05   4,780.49   4,921.54  

Loans and advances to clients   1,819.36   8,947.25   10,766.61  

Property and equipment  595.75   2,101.34   2,697.09  

Intangible assets   0.00     499.97   499.97  

Right-of-use assets   199.48   1,560.78   1,760.26  

Other assets  157.19   2.55   159.74  

Total assets  8,628.64 17,892.38 26,521.02 

Liabilities        

Due to banks and other financial institutions   2,001.94   0.00    2,001.94 

Due to customers   8,312.28   5,235.90  13,548.18 

Deferred tax liabilities  9.00 0.00 9.00 

Provisions  9.28 0.00 9.28 

Lease  160.98  1,644.95  1,805.93 

Other liabilities  113.56 58.12 171.68 

Total liabilities  10,607.04 6,938.97 17,546.01 

         

Net    (1,978.40)    10,953.41      8,975.01  

 

Expected maturity, as presented above, do not differ significantly from the contract dates, except for: 

- Retail deposits, which are included within Due to customers, are repayable on demand or at short notice on a 
contractual basis. In practice, these instruments form a stable base for the Group’s operations and liquidity needs 
because of the broad base of customers, and are renewable at the end of their contractual term. 
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28 Contingent liabilities and commitments  

To meet the financial needs of customers, the Bank enters into various irrevocable commitments and contingent liabilities.  
 Lease commitments – Bank as lessee 
The Bank has leased offices in Prishtina, Ferizaj, Prizren, Fushe Kosove, Gjakove and Peje for 10 year contracts. A detailed 
information regarding the changes that occurred according to the requirements of IFRS 16. These future commitments for 
the year ended 31 December 2022: 

  Year ended    Year ended  

  31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

Not later than 1 year 0.00  0.00 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 0.00  0.00 

Later than 5 years 2,251.24  1,805.93 

Total 2,251.24  1,805.93 

Litigation and claims 

Until December 31, 2022, the Bank is subject to claims and lawsuits only with one client which are considered of a normal 
nature for its activity. The Bank's management is of the opinion that the final cost of resolving these issues will not have a 
material effect on the Bank's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.   

Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the Bank's business. The Bank has formal 
controls and policies for managing these matters. Once professional advice has been obtained and the amount of the loss 
has been determined, the Bank makes the necessary adjustments to take into account the adverse effects that these 
matters may have on its financial position. At the end of the year, the Bank had no outstanding court cases with adverse 
effects, consequently, no provision other than that included in note 22 was recorded.  

Capital commitments 

As at 31 December 2022, the Bank has capital commitments with different suppliers for the production of office equipment 
as well as safety equipment for its branches in Pristina 2. These contracts are to be finalized during 2023.  

29 Related party disclosures 

In the following tables, the Bank presents the relationships that existed between the Bank and its related parties, the nature 
of the transactions, outstanding amounts and expenses and/or income recognized as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the Bank, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Bank. Persons 
or entities that are related to the Bank, by being either a person or close member of that person’s family to the Bank, by 
having control or joint control by a person or close member of that person’s family, or by having significant influence over 
the entity, are presented as other related parties.  

Related party transactions 

   31 December 2022 

 Transaction  Parent  
  Other related 

parties  

Assets   14.24    758.43  

Liabilities  350.73    109.73  

 Income   0.29    46.88  

 Expenses   0.00       0.00  

  31 December 2021 

 Transaction  
Parent    Other related 

parties  

Assets  126,63  0.00 

Liabilities 2,102.74  0.00 

 Income  0.11  0.00 

 Expenses  1.94  0.00 

 

 Interest rates (in %)  Interest rates (in %) 

Type of transaction  31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

Current account 0.00  0.00 

Deposits 0.80%  0.000.70% 

Loans 5.50%  5.50% 
 
  



Banka Credins Kosovë sh.a. 
Notes to the financial statement for the year ended 31 December 2022 
(amounts in EUR ‘000, unless otherwise stated)  

42 
 

 

29 Related party disclosures (continued) 

In addition, the key management personnel remuneration has been as follows, with no other benefits to disclose as at 31 
December 2022: 
 

  Salaries     Bonuses  

Year ended 31 December 2022     

Key management remuneration  156.95   0.00 

Board of Directors remuneration  31.12   0.00 

 

  Salaries     Bonuses  

Year ended 31 December 2021     

Key management remuneration  121.31   0.00 

Board of Directors remuneration  19.92   0.00 

30 Risk management 

30.1 Introduction and overview 
The Bank has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• credit risk 

• liquidity risk 

• market risk 

• operational risks. 

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Bank’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Bank’s management of capital. 

Risk management framework 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight and control of the Bank’s risk 
management framework. The Board has established the Bank Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) and the Credit 
Committee, which are responsible for developing and monitoring Bank risk management policies in specified areas up to 
predetermined limits of exposure. 

The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Bank, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. The Bank, through its training and management standards 
and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment, in which all employees understand 
their roles and obligations. 

Euro area economy, continued to be impacted by geopolitical developments interlinked with the war in Ukraine, namely, 
weakening of the economic activity, inflationary pressures and tightening of the monetary policy, dynamics which have 
weakened the capacity of borrowers’ solvency of households and enterprises. In the fourth quarter of 2022, the euro area 
economy has marked an increase of 2.7%, which was mainly supported by the domestic demand. The high inflation rate 
has continued with its growing trend in the euro area, where prices of energy and food remain the main contributors. 
However, the spread of inflationary pressures in other sectors made the base inflation to expand further thus impacting 
also the growth of domestic inflation.  

The real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth in Kosovo, in Q4 2022, was positive, albeit it stood at lower levels compared 
to the previous quarter. The economic growth was supported by the domestic demand, namely private and public 
consumption, export of services, and the decline of goods import, while negative impact was given by the low level of 
investments and the growth of services import. The same trend of economic growth is expected also in the following quarter, 
as a consequence of the inflationary pressures of the purchasing power and consequently in the domestic demand, while 
the external trade is expected to significantly support the economic growth based on the increase of services export and 
the decline of goods import.  

The banking sector has managed to maintain a high level of capitalization and liquidity, as well as to maintain a low level 
of nonperforming loans, which has been translated into an absorbing capacity of the sector over the years. While it is 
estimated that the high rate of inflation throughout the year has affected the potential reduction of disposable income in the 
economy, potentially putting at risk the borrowers solvency (potential increase in credit risk) and discouraging savings 
(liquidity risk), and consequently the data during 2022 do not indicate the materialization of these risks in the activity and 
performance of the sector. In Q4 2022, lending activity was the main positive contributor to the increase in assets of the 
financial system, while investments in securities marked a slowdown increase. The increased uncertainty from the rise in 
prices in the country and globally, a development that coincided with the slowdown in the growth of deposits in this quarter, 
pushed the banking sector to offer more favourable conditions to obtain financing.  
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30     Risk management (continued) 

30.2 Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s loans and advances to customers and other Banks and 
investment securities. For risk management reporting purposes, the Bank considers and consolidates all elements of credit 
risk exposure (such as individual obligor default risk, country and sector risk). 

The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit risk to its Bank Credit Committees for all 
credit exposures within 5% of the Bank’s regulatory capital. The Board of Directors in cooperation with the Credit Committee 
is responsible for oversight of the Bank’s credit risk, including: formulating credit policies, covering collateral requirements, 
credit assessment, documentary and legal procedures, compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements, establishing 
the authorization structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities. 

Authorization limits are allocated to Risk Division Credit Committees. Larger facilities require approval by Senior Credit 
Committee, with the involvement of the High Management level or the Board of Directors as appropriate. Credit decision 
making Authorities assesses all credit exposures in excess of designated limits, prior to facilities being committed to 
customers. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same review process. 

Developing and maintaining the Bank’s risk classifications in order to categories exposures according to the degree of risk 
of financial loss faced and to focus management on the attendant risks. The risk grading system is used in determining 
where impairment provisions may be required against specific credit exposures. The current risk grading framework 
consists of five grades in accordance with the Central Bank of Kosovo, reflecting varying degrees of risk of default and the 
availability of collateral or other credit risk mitigation. The responsibility for setting risk grades lies with the final approval by 
Credit Committee and these grades are subject to regular monthly reviews. The Bank's Credit Committee regularly receives 
and reviews credit quality reports and takes appropriate corrective action. Each business unit must implement the Bank's 
credit risk management policies and procedures authorized by the Credit Committee. Each business unit / branch is 
responsible for the quality and performance of its loan portfolio, including those with central approval. 

By the end of 2022, the Bank expects an increase in its loan portfolio despite the economic downturn. Following the 
emergence, the Bank is analysing macroeconomic changes and will reflect these changes in the Stress Tests used to 
describe the impact of the war in Ukraine on the calculation of Expected Credit Losses (note 2.4.6.2). 

Regular audits of business units and Bank Credit processes are undertaken by Internal Audit. Based on the Bank’s internal 
rating policy, the portfolio rating as at 31 December 2022 is as follows: 

Bank's Credit Rating  31 December 2022 % to Total Gross  31 December 2021 % to Total Gross  

A+  773.47  2.15%  0.00    0.00%  

A  4,566.84  12.70%  1,856.54  16.87%  

A  10,717.30  29.80%  4,102.13  37.26%  

B+  11,129.58  30.95%  2,661.13  24.17%  

B  192.33  0.53%  126.03  1.14%  

B  0.00    0.00%  0.00    0.00%  

C+  0.00    0.00%  0.00    0.00%  

C  0.00    0.00%  0.00    0.00%  

C  0.00    0.00%  0.00    0.00%  

D+  0.00    0.00%  0.00    0.00%  

D  0.00    0.00%  0.00    0.00%  

E+  0.00    0.00%  0.00    0.00%  

E  0.00    0.00%  0.00    0.00%  

E  0.00    0.00%  0.00    0.00%  

Loans with a credit rating  27,379.52  76.14%  8,745.83  79.45%  

Loans with no rating  8,580.61  23.86%  2,262.33  20.55%  

Loans with credit score 0.00 0.00% 0.00 0.00%  

Total Gross Loan portfolio 35,960.13 100.00% 11,008.16 100.00%  
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30     Risk management (continued) 

30.2  Credit risk (continued) 

The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset for loans and advances to customers to credit risk, based on the 
Bank’s internal credit rating system. The amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances. 

  31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

Credit ranking by Bank Default rates in % Total  Default rates in % Total  

High rank  16,057.61   5,958.67 

Risk rating class 1 0.00%  773.47  0.00% 0.00 

Risk rating class 2 0.00%  4,566.84  0.00% 1,856.54 

Risk rating class 3 0.00%  10,717.30  0.00% 4,102.13 

Standard rank   11,321.92    2,787.16 

Risk rating class 4 0.00% 11,129.58  0.00% 2,661.13 

Risk rating class 5 0.00%  192.33  0.00% 126.03 

Sub–standard grade    0.00      0 

Risk rating class 6 and lower 0.00%  0.00    0.00% 0 

No rating 0.53%  8,580.61  1.98% 2,262.33 

Total  35,960.13   11,008.16 

The classification of the internal rating is in accordance with the Bank’s procedures regarding the different segments of the 
client. In the high grade class are included the valuations for the commercial clients (A+,A,A) and the valuations for 
individuals and micro (classes 1,2). For the standard grade are included the valuations for the commercial clients (B+,B) 
and the valuations for individuals and micro (classes 3,4,5). And in the substandard grade are included the valuations for 
the commercial clients (B and lower) the valuations for individuals and micro (classes 6,7). 

Exposure to credit risk 

 
Gross maximum 

exposure 
 Gross maximum 

exposure 

 31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

Cash and deposits at central bank (excluding cash on hand)  9,350.39    2,246.59  
Restricted balances with Central Bank  961.83    880.00  
Deposits in banks  559.45    1,133.11  
Loans and advances to customers (gross)  35,960.13    11,008.16  
Due from banks and other financial institutions  1,503.88    

Financial assets designated at fair value  6,127.75    4,921.54  

Other assets  575.75   3.11  

Total  55,039.19   20,192.51 

    

Unsecured lending commitments  1,503.88    1,302.00  

Total Credit related commitments  1,503.88   1,302.00 

    

Total Credit Risk Exposure 56,543.07  21,494.51 
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30     Risk management (continued) 

30.2  Credit Risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risk (continued) 

The table below shows the credit quality for loans and advances to customers for the year as at 31 December 2022, based on the Bank’s internal credit rating system. The amounts 
presented are gross of ECL allowances. 
 

 Neither past due nor impaired 
Past due but 
not impaired 

Individually 
impaired 

Total 
31 December 2022 

Investment 
grade 

Standard 
grade 

Substandard 
grade 

Without 
rating 

Corporate lending  6,438.16   1,125.65   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     7,563.80  

Small business lending  9,619.45   10,196.27   0.00     3,228.00   48.83   0.00     23,092.56  

Consumer lending  0.00     0.00     0.00     1,441.11   25.68   0.00     1,466.79  

Residential mortgage  0.00     0.00     0.00     3,836.98   0.00     0.00     3,836.98  

Total  16,057.61   11,321.92   0.00     8,506.10   74.51   0.00     35,960.13  

        

Allowance for ECL of loans  (432.82)   (288.45)   0.00     (117.21)   (51.09)   0.00     (889.58)  

Loan exposure, net of allowances  15,624.79   11,033.46   0.00     8,388.89   23.42   0.00     35,070.55  

 Neither past due nor impaired 
Past due but 
not impaired 

Individually 
impaired 

Total 
31 December 2021 

Investment 
grade 

Standard 
grade 

Substandard 
grade 

Without 
rating 

Corporate lending  3,352.31   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     3,352.31    

Small business lending  2,606.38   2,787.16   0.00     908.98   0.00     44.69   6,347.21  

Consumer lending  0.00     0.00     0.00     449.56   0.00     0.00     449.56  

Residential mortgage  0.00     0.00     0.00     859.08   0.00     0.00     859.08  

Total  5,958.69   2,787.16   0.00     2,217.62   0.00     44.69   11,008.16  

        

Allowance for ECL of loans  (122.08)  (58.79)  0.00     (28.13)  0.00     (32.55)  (241.55) 

Loan exposure, net of allowances  5,836.61   2,728.37   0.00     2,189.49   0.00     12.14   10,766.61  
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30     Risk management (continued) 

30.2  Credit risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risk (continued) 

The following tables set out information about the credit quality of financial assets measured at amortized cost. Unless specifically indicated, for financial assets, the amounts in the table 
represent gross carrying amounts. For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the amounts in the table represent the amounts committed or guaranteed. Explanation of 
the terms: Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3 are included in Note 2.4.6.1. 

  31 December 2022 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Current accounts with banks        

Low-fair risk  559.45   0.00  0.00   559.45  

Less: allowance   0.20   0.00  0.00   0.20  

Carrying amount  559.66   0.00  0.00   559.66  

Cash on hand and unrestricted balances with central bank        

Low-fair risk  9,350.39   0.00  0.00   9,350.39  

Less: allowance   0.00     0.00  0.00   0.00    

Carrying amount  9,350.39   0.00  0.00   9,350.39  

Total  9,910.05   0.00  0.00   9,910.05  

 

   31 December 2022 

  Stage 1   Stage 2   Stage 3   Total 

Unrestricted balances with central bank               

Low-fair risk                 4,328.06    0.00   0.00                   4,328.06  

Less: allowance                                    0.00      0.00   0.00                                     0.00    

Carrying amount                 4,328.06    0.00   0.00                   4,328.06  

Total                 4,887.72    0.00   0.00                   4,887.72  
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30     Risk management (continued) 

30.2  Credit risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risk (continued) 

  31 December 2021 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3  Total 

Current accounts with banks        

Low-fair risk 1,133.52  0.00  0.00  1,133.52 

Less: allowance   (0.41)  0.00  0.00  (0.41) 

Carrying amount 1,133.11  0.00  0.00  1,133.11 

Unrestricted balances with central bank        

Low-fair risk 3,703.43  0.00  0.00  3,703.43 

Less: allowance  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 

Carrying amount 3,703.43  0.00  0.00  3,703.43 

Total 4,836.54  0.00  0.00  4,836.54 

 

  31 December 2022 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3            Total 

Restricted cash at Central Bank        

Low-fair risk  961.83   0.00  0.00   961.83  

Less: allowance   0.00     0.00  0.00   0.00    

Carrying amount  961.83        961.83  

 
 

  31 December 2021 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3            Total 

Restricted cash at Central Bank        

Low-fair risk  879.27   0.00  0.00   879.27  

Less: allowance   0.00     0.00  0.00   0.00    

Carrying amount  879.27   0.00  0.00   879.27  
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30     Risk management (continued) 

30.2  Credit risk (continued) 
Exposure to credit risk (continued) 

  31 December 2022 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   Total 

Loans to customers         

Low-fair risk  35,885.62    12.18    62.33     35,960.13  

Less: allowance   838.49    5.59    45.50     889.58  

Carrying amount  35,047.14        6.59     16.82     35,070.55  

  31 December 2021 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   Total 

Loans to customers         

Low-fair risk   10,963.47   0.00       44.69    11,008.16  

Less: allowance  (209.01)   0.00  (32.54)   (241.55) 

Carrying amount 10,754.46  0.00  12.15   10,766.61 

  31 December 2022 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   Total 

Loans and advances to customers         

Standart – low risk  35,885.62   0.00  0.00    35,885.62  

Special mention 0.00   12.18   0.00    12.18  

Substandard 0.00  0.00   3.22     3.22  

Doubtful 0.00  0.00  0.00    0.00    

Lost 0.00  0.00   59.11     59.11  

Allowance for impairment  (838.49)    (5.59)    (45.50)     (889.58)  

Net  35,047.14    6.59    16.82     35,070.55  

  31 December 2021 

 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   Total 

Loans and advances to customers         

Standard – low risk 10,963.47  0.00  0.00   10,963.47 

Special mention 0.00  0.00  0.00   0.00 

Doubtful 0.00  0.00  44.69   44.69 

Lost 0.00  0.00  0.00   0.00 

Allowance for impairment (209.01)  0.00  (32.54)   (241.55) 

Net 10,754.46  0.00  12.15   10,766.61 
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 30     Risk management (continued) 

 30.2  Credit risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risk (continued) 

The table below shows the net exposure to loans and advances to customers as at 31 December 2022 categorized as per individual 
and collective impaired portfolio: 

 Net exposure of loans and advances to clients 

  31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

Individually impaired  0.00     44.69 

Allowance for ECL  0.00     (32.54) 

Carrying amount  0.00     12.15 

Collectively assessed for impaired    

Past due and impaired  74.51   0.00 

Allowance for ECL  51.09   0.00 

Carrying amount  23.42   0.00    

Neither past due nor individually impaired  35,885.62    10,963.47  

Allowance for ECL  (838.49)    (209.01) 

Carrying amount  35,047.14    10,754.46  

     

Total carrying amount on loans and advances to customers  35,070.55   10,766.61 

Impaired loans and securities 

Impaired loans and securities are those loans and securities for which the Bank has determined that it is possible that it will not 
collect the full amount of interest and the loan under the terms of the contract. 

Impairment allowance 

The Bank creates an impairment allowance that represents the Bank's estimate of the portfolio impairment losses incurred. The main 
components of this provision are, a component for specific losses related to significant exposures, and a general provision for groups 
of similar assets related to realize losses but not identified in loans that are subject to individual assessment for depreciation. 

Credit write off policy 

The reduction on the value of losses is done by a decision of the Board of Directors when the legal process for loan repayment has 
ended and the client continues to remain a debtor for the unpaid part of the loan. 
Loans and advances to customers 

The Bank holds collateral to loans and advances to customers in the form of mortgages, other collaterals recorded on assets and 
guarantees. Calculations of the fair value of collateral assessed at the time of the loan are usually not updated unless a loan is 
assessed as impaired. Collateral on loans and advances to banks is usually not held. Collateral is not held against investments in 
financial instruments and no such collateral is held for the year ended 31 December 2022 or 31 December 2021. It is the Bank's 
policy to put up for sale properties repossessed during the normal course of banking activity. Proceeds from these sales are used to 
reduce or repay the outstanding value of loans. In general, the Bank does not use these repossessed properties for the purposes of 
its own banking activity. 
An estimate of the fair value of collateral and other securities held against financial assets is as follows: 

  31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

Loans assessed for ECL individually: 
 

  173.37  

     Properties  0.00      173.37  

     Other  0.00      0.00    

Loans assessed for ECL in group 118,596.07   41,509.17  

     Properties  87,764.43    28,878.22  

     Other  30,831.65    12,630.95  

  118,596.07    41,682.54  
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30     Risk management (continued) 

30.2  Credit risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risk (continued) 
The financial effect of collateral, by showing the level of provisions if no collateral would be considered is shown as below: 
 

  31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

Gross amount (loans, advances and financial lease)  35,960.13    11,008.16  

Provisions if no collateral would be considered  (889.58)   (241.55) 

Total carrying amount on loans and advances to customers  35,070.55    10,766.61  

Risk concentration 

The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by industry sector, geographic location, counterparty, maturity and currency. An 
analysis of concentrations of credit risk by industry sector and geographic location at the reporting date is shown below:  

Loans and advances to customers   31 December 2022   31 December 2021 

 
Kosovo Others Total  Kosovo Others Total 

Construction  9,851.27   0.00     9,851.27    1,711.78   0.00     1,711.78  

Commerce  7,506.08   0.00     7,506.08    3,942.67   19.38   3,962.05  

Consumer loans  5,210.55   38.36   5,248.91    1,290.10   9.34   1,299.44  

Public,social and personal services  717.37   0.00     717.37    1,112.23   0.00     1,112.23  

Processing industry  2,832.60   0.00     2,832.60    339.44   0.00     339.44  

Hotels and restaurants  1,439.59   40.39   1,479.99    405.55   38.72   444.27  

Production and distribution of electricity/water  728.56   0.00     728.56    0.00     0.00     0.00    

Real estate  1,717.76   0.00     1,717.76    1.27   0.00     1.27  

Transport and telecommunication  705.94   0.00     705.94    41.05   0.00     41.05  

Agriculture  705.02   0.00     705.02    19.80   0.00     19.80  

Mining  0.00     0.00     0.00      0.00     0.00     0.00    

Health and social activities  1,120.27   0.00     1,120.27    462.54   0.00     462.54  

Fishery  0.00     0.00     0.00      0.00     0.00     0.00    

Other  2,456.80   0.00     2,456.80    1,372.74   0.00     1,372.74  

  34,991.80   78.75   35,070.55   10,699.17   67.44  10.766,61  
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30     Risk management (continued) 

30.2  Credit risk (continued) 

Exposure to credit risk (continued) 

An analysis of concentrations of credit risk by industry sector at the reporting date is shown below:  
 

 
 

 31 December 2021 Corporate 
lending 

Small business 
lending 

Consumer 
lending 

Residential 
mortgage 

Total 

Individuals  0.00     0.00     448.15   851.29   1,299.44  
Public Sector  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    
Trade  1,921.45   2,496.97   0.00     0.00     4,418.42  
Manufacturing  0.00     339.44   0.00     0.00     339.44  
Construction  0.00     1,711.78   0.00     0.00     1,711.78  
Services  0.00     1,112.23   0.00     0.00     1,112.23  
Others  1,364.92   520.38   0.00     0.00     1,885.30  

Total  3,286.37   6,180.80   448.15   851.29   10,766.61  

      

Financial Services 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 

30.3   Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial liabilities. 

Administration of liquidity risk  

The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Bank’s reputation. Short-term liquidity is managed 
by the Treasury Department, while midterm and long-term liquidity is managed by ALCO. The Risk Management Division reports 
regularly to ALCO and the Treasury Department on level of exposure to liquidity risk.  

Treasury Department maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid assets, made up of short-term liquid investment securities, loans and 
advances to banks and other interbank facilities, to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained by the Bank. Daily reports produced 
by Treasury as well as weekly and monthly reports produced by the Risk Management Division cover the liquidity position of the 
Bank. All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval by ALCO. 

Exposure to liquidity risk 

The key measures used by the Bank for managing liquidity risk are the calculation of liquidity ratios and the evaluation of liquidity 
gaps for specific periods. 
The Bank calculates on a weekly basis the following ratios: liquid assets to short-term liabilities, loans to deposits, and liquid assets 
to deposits. Liquid assets are considered as including cash and cash equivalents, government treasury bills/bonds and any short 
term deposits with banks maturing within one month. Details of the liquid assets to short-term liabilities ratio during the reporting 
period were as follows: 

 31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

Average for the period 61.03%  170.73% 

Minimum for the period 48.34%  92.57% 

Maximum for the period 86.59%  284.04% 

 
 
 
 

   

 31 December 2022 
Corporate 

lending 
Small business 

lending 
Consumer 

lending 
Residential 

mortgage 
Total 

Individuals            0.00                    0.00     1,446.69   3,802.22  5,248.91  
Public Sector   0.00            0.00             0.00             0.00       0.00    
Trade 3,186.22  4,319.86         0.00           0.00    7,506.08  
Manufacturing        0.00      2,832.60         0.00                 0.00    2,832.60  
Construction  3,227.44          6,623.83  0.00    0.00     9,851.27  
Services          0.00     2,016.62  0.00    0.00    2,016.62  
Others  1,003.14   6,171.77  0.00    0.00     7,174.90  

Total  7,416.79  21,964.67  1,446.69   3,802.22    34,630.38  

      

Financial Services  0.00     440.17   0.00     0.00     440.17  



Banka Credins Kosovë sh.a. 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 

(amounts in Eur’000, unless otherwise stated) 
 

52 
 

30     Risk management (continued) 

30.3 Liquidity risk (continued) 

Exposure to liquidity risk (continued) 

The Bank has in place an emergency plan for liquidity risk management in unusual circumstances, considering various scenarios, 
which may affect the level of liquidity of the Bank. The Bank considers the liquidity risk in the recovery plans, in the internal capital 
adequacy assessment process, setting well defined limits on its appetite for risk. The Bank is confident that its sources of capital can 
be available at any time. Depending on the escalation of the situation created by any problematic disruption, the Bank will consider 
various scenarios that may affect the inflows in measuring its indicators increasing its financing through: 

− Capital increase through new capital issuance (new capital injection in the Bank); 

Maturity gaps for each major currency are calculated and analysed by the Bank on a monthly basis. The tables below show an 

analysis of the Bank’s assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2022 according to their remaining maturity. 

The table shows the liquidity situation of the Bank as currently monitored by the Bank’s management, as at 31 December 2022. It 
considers the undiscounted cash flows in/out of the Bank for on and off financial assets and liabilities, reflecting any earlier repayment 
or retention history assumptions.  

31 December 2022 < 1 month 13 months 312 months 15 years over 5 years Total 

Assets (Cash flow in) 13,670.32  937.85  3,809.56  17,601.54  19,019.91  55,039.19  

Cash and deposits at Central Bank 9,350.39  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  9,350.39  
Deposits in banks 559.45  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  559.45  
Restricted balances with Central Bank 961.83  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  961.83  
Due from banks and other financial institutions 1,503.88  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  1,503.88  
Investment securities  29.59  29.88  120.31  2,361.78  3,586.19  6,127.75  
Loans and advances to customers (gross) 1,206.36  845.58  3,607.79  14,866.68  15,433.72  35,960.13  
Other assets 58.80  62.39  81.46  373.09  0.00  575.75  

Liabilities (Cash flow out) 9,875.32  1,287.22  12,044.40  25,915.02  0.00  49,121.97  

Deposits from bank and customers-Current account           0.00  
Current account with banks 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Current account with customers 9,744.10  1,207.20  12,044.40  25,889.28  0.00  48,884.99  
Other liabilities 131.22  80.02  0.00  25.74  0.00  236.98  

Total gap on balance sheet 3,795.00  (349.37) (8,234.84) (8,313.48) 19,019.91  5,917.22  

             
Off Balance sheet (Cash flow out) 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Total gap off balance sheet 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

             

Total GAP 31 December 2022 3,795.00  (349.37) (8,234.84) (8,313.48) 19,019.91  5,917.22  

Cumulative GAP 31 December 2022 3,795.00  3,445.63  (4,789.21) (13,102.69) 5,917.22   
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30     Risk management (continued) 

30.3 Liquidity risk (continued) 

Exposure to liquidity risk (continued) 

31 December 2021 < 1 month 13 months 312 months 15 years over 5 years Total 

Assets (Cash flow in)  5,759.35   639.98  1,324.42  7,034.65  6,890.23  21,648.62  

Cash and deposits at Central Bank  3,703.43  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  3,703.43  
Restricted balances with Central Bank  879.27  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  879.27  
Deposits in banks  1,133.11  0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00  1,133.11  
Loans and advances to customers (gross)  20.13   617.46   1,226.18   5,329.22   3,815.17   11,008.16  
Investment securities   20.30   22.52  98.24   1,705.43   3,075.06   4,921.55  
Other assets 3.10  0.00     0.00   0.00  0.00  3.10 

Liabilities (Cash flow out)  5,968.43   66.02   4,554.31  6,041.26   897.72  17,527.74  

Deposits from bank and customers-Current account  0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00   

Current account with banks  0.00   0.00   2,001.94   0.00   0.00   2,001.94  
Current account with customers 5,854.87   66.02   2,391.39  5,235.90   0.00  13,548.18  
Lease liabilities   0.00       0.00      160.98   747.24   897.72   1,805.94  
Other liabilities  113.56    0.00       0.00      58.12    0.00      171.68  

Total gap on balance sheet  (209.09)  573.96   (3,229.89)  993.39   5,992.51   4,120.88  
Off Balance sheet (Cash flow out)  0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00  

Total gap off balance sheet  0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00   0.00  

       

Total GAP 31 December 2021  (209.09)  573.96   (3,229.89)  993.39   5,992.51   4,120.88  

Cumulative GAP 31 December 2021  (209.09)  364.87   (2,865.02) (1,871.63)  4,120.88   0.00  
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30     Risk management (continued) 

30.3  Liquidity risk (continued) 

Exposure to liquidity risk (continued) 

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Bank’s financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments. 
 

 
 

 < 1 month 13 months 3-12 months 15 years over 5 years Total 

       

31 December 2021       

Deposits from bank and customers Current account  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    

Current account with banks  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    

Current account with customers  4,924.94   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     4,924.94  

Deposits from banks  0.00     0.00     2,001.94   0.00     0.00     2,001.94  

Liabilities to clients – Term deposits  929.93   66.02   2,391.39   5,235.90   0.00     8,623.24  

Lease  0.00     0.00     160.98   747.24   897.72   1,805.94  

Other liabilities  113.56   0.00     0.00     58.12   0.00     171.68  

Total  5,968.43   66.02   4,554.31   6,041.26   897.72  17,527.74 

 < 1 month 13 months 3-12 months 15 years over 5 years Total 

       

31 December 2022       

Deposits from bank and customers Current account 8,782.35   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    8,782.35  

Current account with banks  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    

Current account with customers 8,782.35   0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    8,782.35  

Deposits from banks  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00    

Liabilities to clients – Term deposits  961.75   1,207.20   12,044.40  25,889.28   0.00    40,102.64  

Other liabilities  131.22   80.02   0.00     25.74   0.00     236.98  

Total 9,875.32   1,287.22   12,044.40  25,915.02   0.00    49,121.97  
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30      Risk management (continued) 
30.4   Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates will affect the Bank’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 

Management of market risks 

ALCO is responsible for the overall management of market risks. The risk of foreign exchange positions is measured and 
reported by the Risk Management Department on a daily basis. The Bank manages this risk by closing daily open foreign 
currency positions and by establishing and monitoring limits on open positions. The Bank manages interest rate risk by 
conducting reprising gap analysis and profit margin analysis for each major currency. The Risk Management Department 
produces these reports on a monthly basis. 

Exposure to foreign exchange risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 

ALCO has set limits on positions by currency. In accordance with the Bank’s policy, positions are monitored on a daily 
basis to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. 

The analysis of assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2022 and 2021 by the foreign currencies in which they were 
denominated is as follows: 

31 December 2022 EUR USD ALL Other TOTAL 

Cash and deposits at Central Bank 9,140.76  158.03  0.07  51.54  9,350.39  
Deposits in banks 291.85  142.72  0.00  124.88  559.45  
Restricted balances with Central Bank 961.83  0.00  0.00  0.00  961.83  
Due from banks and other financial institutions 0.00  1,503.88  0.00  0.00  1,503.88  
Financial assets at FVOCI 6,127.75  0.00  0.00  0.00  6,127.75  
Loans and advances to customers 35,903.30  56.83  0.00  0.00  35,960.13  
Other assets (debtors) 575.53  0.19  0.00  0.03  575.75  

Total assets 53,001.02  1,861.65  0.07  176.45  55,039.19  

Due to banks 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  
Due to customers 46,996.36  1,769.67  0.00  118.96  48,884.99  
Other liabilities  224.57  12.41  0.00  0.00  236.98  

Total liabilities  47,220.93  1,782.08  0.00  118.96  49,121.97  

Net position 5,780.09  79.57  0.07  57.49  5,917.22  

      

31 December 2021 EUR USD ALL Other TOTAL 

Cash and deposits at Central Bank 3,571.57 123.57  0.08   8.21  3,703.43 
Restricted balances with Central Bank  879.27  0.00 0.00 0.00 879.27 
Deposits in banks 1,094.98 3.30 0.00 34.83  1,133.11 
Investment Securities  4,921.55  0.00 0.00 0.00  4,921.55  
Loans and advances to customers  11,008.16  0.00 0.00 0.00  11,008.16  
Other assets (debtors) 3.11  0.00 0.00  0.00  3.11 

Total assets 21,478.64 126.87 0.08 43.04 21,648.63 

Due to banks  2,001.94  0.00 0.00 0.00  2,001.94  
Due to customers  13,430.63   117.52   0.00     0.03   13,548.18  
Lease liabilities  1,805.93  0.00 0.00 0.00  1,805.93  
Other liabilities   171.68  0.00 0.00 0.00  171.68  

Total liabilities  17,410.18 117.52 0.00 0.03 17,527.73 

Net position 4,068.46 9.35 0.08 43.01 4,120.90 

 
 
For the period ended 31 December 2022, there are no capital items in foreign currency (paid up capital is in EUR), the 
effect in the capital of the Bank is the same as the effect of profit/loss after tax.  
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30      Risk management (continued) 

30.4  Market risk (continued) 

Exposure to interest rate risk 
The table below analyses the Bank’s interest rate risk exposure on financial assets and liabilities and interest rate gap position as at 31 December 2022. The Bank’s assets and liabilities 
are included at carrying amount and categorized by the earlier of contractual re–pricing or maturity dates. 

31 December 2022 
< 1 month 13 months 3-12 months 15 years > 5 years Noninterest 

bearing 
Total 

Assets        

Cash and deposits at Central Bank 4,328.06  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  5,022.33  9,350.39  
Deposits in banks 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  559.45  559.45  
Restricted balances with Central Bank 96.18  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  865.65  961.83  
Due from banks and other financial institutions 1,503.88  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  1,503.88  
Investment Securities 29.59  29.88  120.31  2,361.78  3,586.19  0.00  6,127.75  
Loans and advances to customers 1,206.36  845.58  3,607.79  14,866.68  15,433.72  0.00  35,960.13  
Other assets 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  575.75  575.75  

Total assets 7,164.08  875.46  3,728.10  17,228.46  19,019.91  7,023.18  55,039.19  

Liabilities               

Due to banks               
Due to customers 9,744.10  1,207.20  12,044.40  25,889.28  0.00  0.00  48,884.99  
Other liabilities  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  236.98  236.98  

Total liabilities 9,744.10  1,207.20  12,044.40  25,889.28  0.00  236.98  49,121.97  

GAP as at 31 December 2022 (2,580.02) (331.75) (8,316.30) (8,660.82) 19,019.91  6,786.21  5,917.22  

        

31 December 2021 
< 1 month 13 months 3-12 months 15 years > 5 years Noninterest 

bearing 
Total 

Assets        
Cash and deposits at Central Bank  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     3,703.43   3,703.43  
Restricted balances with Central Bank  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     879.27   879.27  
Deposits in banks  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     1,133.11   1,133.11  
Investment Securities  20.30   22.51   98.24   1,705.43   3,075.06    0.00      4,921.54  
Loans and advances to customers  20.13   617.46   1,226.18   5,329.22   3,815.17    0.00      11,008.16  
Rightofuse assets  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     1,760.26   1,760.26  

Total assets  40.43   639.97   1,324.42   7,034.65   6,890.23   7,476.07   23,405.77  

Liabilities        
Due to banks  0.00     0.00     2,001.94   0.00     0.00     0.00     2,001.94  
Due to customers  5,854.87   66.02   2,391.39   5,235.90   0.00     0.00     13,548.18  
Lease liabilities  0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     0.00     1,805.93   1,805.93  

Total liabilities  5,854.87   66.02   4,393.33   5,235.90    0.00      1,805.93   17,356.05  

GAP as at 31 December 2021  (5,814.44)  573.95   (3,068.91)  1,798.75   6,890.23   5,670.14   6,049.72  
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30      Risk management (continued) 
 

30.5 Operational risk 
In accordance with CBK regulation, operational risk is defined as the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people, systems or external events. This definition includes legal risk, but excludes strategic risk and 
reputational risk. To ensure effective operational risk management, the Bank has implemented an operational risk 
framework which includes policies and procedures, techniques and tools for identifying, assessing, preventing / controlling 
and monitoring operational risk. To improve and enhance the effectiveness of internal controls in the bank's processes and 
to record all operational risk losses, the bank has established a "loss event database" where all events that cause 
operational losses or potential risks are recorded. The limits and reporting lines of these losses are defined in operational 
risk management policies. Furthermore, the operational risk procedure describes in detail the steps that the Bank takes 
from the information collected in the operational risk events database. This database is considered to be the best source 
of information for the development of models for measuring the bank's exposure to operational risk as it provides information 
on the causes of loss. Furthermore, through the information collected from this database, corrective or preventive measures 
have been put in place to prevent / control this risk. The annual assessment of the various processes in the bank is part of 
the bank's operational risk management framework. Through this assessment, the Bank collects useful information for 
determining the Bank's operational risk profile and assesses the risks to which the Bank has been exposed, including the 
degree of control implementation. This enables the improvement of control processes through various measures, thus 
reducing the impact of losses from operational risk. Effective operational risk management means recognizing the bank's 
position and risk profile. Therefore, for this purpose, the bank uses key risk indicators (KRIs) to monitor exposure managers 
related to key risks. These indicators are monitored on a regular basis (monthly / quarterly) in order to facilitate operational 
risk management by providing early warning signals for changes that may indicate risk concerns. In creating an effective 
operational risk management, the Bank has undertaken various activities related to raising risk awareness mainly through 
trainings, which are provided to all bank staff on an annual basis. These trainings aim to increase knowledge about 
operational risk management by discussing different scenarios in previous operational risk events. Furthermore, the 
trainings address the channels through which operational risk events should be monitored and reported. In addition, the 
Bank has implemented a process to ensure that changes in products, services or processes (existing or new) pass the risk 
review and approval. This will ensure that operational risk arising from new processes, products or services at the Bank is 
monitored and addressed promptly. The Bank calculates the capital payment for operational risk using the Base Indicator 
(BIA) approach as defined by the Central Bank Regulation on Operational Risk Management. 

30.6 Capital management 
 
Regulatory capital 
The objectives of the Bank in the case of capital management are: - to comply with the capital requirements set by the 
Central Bank of Kosovo (CBK); - maintain the Bank's ability to continue its activity on an ongoing basis and to continue to 

provide returns to the shareholder; and - maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business. Capital 
adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are regularly monitored by the Bank's management using techniques based on 

CBK guidelines. Necessary information is provided to the CBK on a quarterly basis. Assets are classified using a ranking 
of five risk categories, reflecting an assessment of credit risk, market risk and other risks associated with each asset and 

off-balance sheet exposure. The regulation requires banks to maintain a minimum regulatory capital of 7,000,000 ml Euro 
(seven million euro), to maintain a minimum ratio of 9% of Tier I capital to risk weighted assets (currently in 2022: 18.67%), 

(2021: 50.93%), a minimum of 12% of total regulatory capital to risk weighted assets (currently in 2022: 19.91%) (2021: 
52.85%), and a minimum of 3% of the ratio of total capital to total assets (leverage ratio) (currently at 2022: 13.16%) (2021: 

30.53%). The Bank complied with regulatory requirements at the reporting dates of 31 December 2022. The Bank monitors 
its capital adequacy using, among other measures, the rules and reports established by the Central Bank of Kosovo (CBK), 

which ultimately determines the legal capital required to underpin its business.  
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30.6 Capital management (continued) 
 
Regulatory capital (continued) 

The Bank manages its capital to ensure that the Bank will be able to continue on a going concern basis while maximizing 
shareholder returns through improved debt and equity. The Bank's capital structure consists of paid-in capital, general risk 

reserves and retained earnings. The Bank's policy is to maintain a strong capital base in order to maintain the confidence 
of investors, creditors and the market and to support the future development of the business. The impact of capital level on 

shareholder returns is also recognized and the Bank recognizes the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns 
that may be possible with higher returns and the advantages and security that a strong capital position offers. The Bank 

monitors capital adequacy, with particular emphasis on rules and reports issued by the Central Bank of Kosovo (“CBK”). 
Capital Adequacy Ratio is the ratio of regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets, off-balance sheet items and other risks, 

expressed as a percentage. The minimum required for the Capital Adequacy Ratio is 9% for Tier 1 capital and 12% for 
total equity. Risk Weighted Assets (RIS). 
Assets are weighted according to broad categories of national risk, setting the weight of risk according to the amount of 
capital that would be needed to support them. Six risk weighing categories (0%, 20%, 50%, 75%, 100%, 150%) apply; for 
example, cash and money market instruments are weighted at zero risk, which means that no additional capital is needed 
to hold these assets. Property and equipment are weighted at 100% risk, which means that they must be backed by Capital 
(First Class) equal to 9% of the book value. Credit commitments on off-balance sheet items have been considered. The 
amounts are then risk weighted at the same rate as for balance sheet assets.  

  31 December 2022  31 December 2021 

Weighted risk assets 
                            

41,758.25  
 

15,802.68 

Total risk weighted off-balance sheet exposures 
                                   

504.30  
 

249.27 

Total risk weighted assets for operational risk 
                                   

381.44  
 

0.00 

Total 
                            

42,644.00  
 

16,051.95 

Regulatory Capital (Total Capital) 
                               

8,490.94  
 

8,484.00 

Capital Adequacy Ratio (Total Capital) 19.91%  52.85% 

To ensure capital adequacy, the Bank has begun building models that define the additional capital required in Pillar II to 
cover the risks to which the Bank is exposed as required by the CBK Regulation on the Internal Capital Valuation 
Process. (ICAAP). 

Capital allocation 

The allocation of capital between specific operations and activities is, to a large extent, driven by optimization of the return 
achieved on the capital allocated. The amount of capital allocated to each operation or activity is also dependent upon the 
regulatory capital. The process of allocating capital to specific operations and activities is undertaken independently of 
those responsible for the operation, and is subject to review by the Bank Credit Committee or ALCO as appropriate. 

30.7 Fair value disclosures 

Fair value estimates are based on existing statement of financial position financial instruments without attempting to 
estimate the value of anticipated future business and the value of assets and liabilities not considered financial instruments. 

Investment securities Treasury bills and government bonds are interest bearing assets measured at fair value through 
OCI. Their fair value is estimated using the discounted cash flow model based on a market profitability rate that is 
appropriate for the remaining maturity of these securities, according to the last auction price declared by the Central Bank 
for securities. Similar values. For these securities, information belonging to the second level of the fair value hierarchy is 
used. 

Loans and advances to customers – Loans and advances are presented net of allowances for ECL. The majority of the 
loan portfolio is subject to reprising within a year, by changing the base rate. The fair value is calculated using the cash 
flow of the payments for their remaining maturity discounted with an average market interest rate.  

Deposits from banks Fair value of time deposits which include interest bearing deposits, fair value is calculated using the 
discounted future cash flow model based on the current rate of return appropriate to the remaining maturity, according to 
current interest rates in the market for deposits with similar maturity and currency. 

Deposits from customers because no active market exists for these instruments, the fair value has been estimated using effective 

interest rate. For financial assets and financial liabilities that have a short-term maturity (less than three months) it is 
assumed that the carrying amounts approximate their fair value.  
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30      Risk management (continued) 

30.7 Fair value disclosures (continued) 

As of 31 December 2022, there are no financial instruments measured at fair value. 

The following table presents the fair value of financial instruments that are not measured at fair value and analyses them from the level of the fair value hierarchy: 

31 December 2022 Carrying amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value 

Assets 54,458.07  10,871.48  6,127.75  29,778.63  46,777.86  

Cash and deposits at Central Bank 9,350.39  9,350.39  0.00  0.00  9,350.39  

Deposits in banks 559.25  559.25  0.00  0.00  559.25  

Restricted balances with Central Bank 961.83  961.83  0.00  0.00  961.83  

Due from banks and other financial institutions 1,495.22  0.00  0.00  1,495.22  1,495.22  

Investment securities 6,127.75  0.00  6,127.75  0.00  6,127.75  

Loans and advances to customers 35,963.63  0.00  0.00  28,283.42  28,283.42  

Liabilities 48,884.99  9,486.76  0.00  37,520.21  47,006.96  

Due to banks 0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  

Due to customers 48,884.99  9,486.76  0.00  37,520.21  47,006.96  

 

31 December 2021 Carrying amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value 

Assets 21,403.96  5,715.81  4,921.54  10,766.61  21,403.96  

Cash and deposits at Central Bank 3,703.43  3,703.43  0.00  0.00  3,703.43  

Deposits in banks 1,133.11  1,133.11  0.00  0.00  1,133.11  

Restricted balances with Central Bank 879.27  879.27  0.00  0.00  879.27  

Investment securities 4,921.54  0.00  4,921.54  0.00  4,921.54  

Loans and advances to customers 10,766.61  0.00  0.00  10,766.61  10,766.61  

Liabilities 15,550.12  0.00  0.00  15,550.12  15,550.12  

Due to banks 2,001.94  0.00  0.00  2,001.94  2,001.94  

Due to customers 13,548.18  0.00  0.00  13,548.18  13,548.18  

 

 



Banka Credins Kosovë sh.a. 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 

(amounts in Eur’000, unless otherwise stated) 
 

60 
 

31 Events after the reporting date 

l. Return of global inflation 
After almost four decades, inflation has become the today concern of advanced economies and emerging markets and 
developing economies all over the world. It seems that this time inflation came back faster, more noticeable and probably 
is more persistent than central banks perceived at the beginning. Today we are experiencing another major event, the war 
in Ukraine, which not only has created immense human suffering, but it has also damaged the global economy at a critical 
stage. Not only has affected further increase of energy and commodity prices but also has significantly increased the 
global uncertainty, which undermine growth. One development impacting inflation, that is common across advanced and 
developing countries is the increase in commodity prices alongside rising global demand. Repercussions of the war and 
ensuing sanctions continue to reverberate. The resilience of the global financial system will be tested through various 
potential amplification channels. These include the exposures of financial institutions to Russian and Ukrainian assets; 
market liquidity and funding strains; and the acceleration of kryptonation — residents opting to use crypto assets instead 
of the local currency — in emerging markets. Europe bears a higher risk than other regions due to its geographic proximity 
to the war, reliance on Russian energy, and the non-negligible exposure of some banks and other financial institutions to 
Russian financial assets and markets. Moreover, ongoing volatility in commodity prices may severely pressure commodity 
financing and derivatives markets and could even cause more disruptions like the wild swings that halted some nickel 
trading last month. Such episodes, amid heightened geopolitical uncertainty, may weigh on liquidity and funding conditions. 
To be sure, a more timely and robust policy response from major central banks would not be good news for emerging 
markets and developing economies in the short run. Most would experience higher funding costs, and debt crises could 
become significantly more likely for some. Based on IMF estimates, the rise in uncertainty in the first quarter could be 
enough to reduce full-year global growth by up to 0.35 percentage point. Inflation expected to remain high globally over 
the coming months up to 2023. 
 
 II. Impact of global inflation in Balkan region 
 
In emerging markets, many central banks have already significantly tightened policy. They should continue to do so—
depending on individual circumstances—to preserve their inflation-fighting credibility and anchor inflation expectations. 
Interest rates might have to rise beyond what is currently priced in markets to get inflation back to target in a timely manner. 
This may entail pushing interest rates well above their neutral level. For advanced-economy central banks, clear 
communication is crucial to avoid unnecessary volatility in financial markets, by providing clear guidance about the 
tightening process while remaining data dependent. Federal Reserve has increased the base interest rate twice up to now, 
followed by Bank of England. European Central Bank has not yet performed any changes to key interest rates. Returning 
to our region, Central Bank of Serbia, decided to raise the key policy rate by 50 bp, to 1.5%. This increase accompanied 
by an increase of repo rate and on deposit and lending facilities. Central Bank of Albania did the same by increasing the 
base interest rate with 50 bp to 1% (at the pre-pandemic levels) but kept unchanged the deposit and lending facility rates. 
The National Bank of Macedonia, decided to increase interest rate on CB bills by 0.25 percentage points to 1.5%, primarily 
as a preventive response to the increasing inflation expectations. Meanwhile, Central banks of Bosnia &Hercegovina, 
Monte Negro and Kosovo have not yet taken any action although the inflation is above their target level. These decisions 
intent to control further increase of inflation but at the same time not to have a significant impact on economic growth of 
the countries, which are still recovering from the pandemic years. However, the upside risk of inflation to which all Balkan 
economies are exposed, is a further increase of energy, natural gas, oil prices and fertilizers due to war in Ukraine. Inflation 
reduces the purchasing power of the population, which will be reflect in the reduction of personal consumption, which is 
the main component of the GDP of the Western Balkans. The increase in transport costs is an additional risk for the 
business of companies in the region. According to latest data published from central banks of Balkan Countries, the GDP 
growth rate or the year 2022 and 2023 revised downward to initial forecast performed in 2021 due to consequences of 
current situation. Further growth of the oil price would also lead to an increased deficit of the current account (balance of 
payments) in all Balkan economies, as well as to an increase in the foreign trade deficit. From the other side, increase of 
inflation and base interest rate will affect an increase of interest rate of lending, deposits and of government securities in 
the financial markets. Increase of the last means an increase of government debt and annual budgetary deficit. Increase 
of lending interest rate will increase credit risk of borrower and would require tighten of the banks’ lending policies and 
procedures.  
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31 Events after the reporting date 

 
 III. Financial system in Kosovo 
 
The financial system continued the positive growth trend, but at a significantly slower pace compared to the previous 
period. In general, the banking sector continues to operate in an environment with low levels of loans with problems, 
optimal liquidity and in a state of being well-capitalized. Banking sector marked a significant increase of lending during 
this period, being supported by the increase in demand, financed by deposits.  
Interest rates on loans have decreased gradual over the years, reaching a level similar to the countries of the region. 
Meanwhile, the average interest rate on deposits has remained almost unchanged in recent years, which mainly 
reflected the high level of banks' liquidity. An increase is evidenced during 2022 due to increase of prices, Interest rates 
of new loans in Q4 2022 is at the level 7.84% while the average of the interest of the total volume of the portfolio is 6.2% 
. Such increase in lending rates is expected to continue. 
According to the Monetary policy report for the Q4 of 2022, the indicators of loan supply and demand continued to 
improve in the Q4. To this growth contributed the household sector, which recorded a higher increase, and also the non-
financial corporations sector, which at the same time had the main contribution to the growth of total loans. The 
significant increase of mortgage loans has been influenced by the more favourable conditions offered by banks for this 
category, through the low interest rate and the extension of the maturity term.  
Bank deposits continued to expand with high rates with a slower pace during Q4 2022. In 2022 Q4, deposits expanded 
averagely around 6%. Household deposits continued to have the main contribution to the total growth of deposits, 
followed by nonfinancial corporation deposits. In terms of currency, EUR currency-denominated deposits, mainly those 
of households, have generated most of total deposits growth. 
The management of the Bank is not aware of any other event after the reporting date that would require either adjustments 
or additional disclosures in these Financial Statements. 
 
 

 


